ORTA DOĞU TEKNİK ÜNİVERSİTESİ Fen bilimleri enstitüsü müdürlüğü

TEZ ŞABLONU ONAY FORMU THESIS TEMPLATE CONFIRMATION FORM

- Şablonda verilen yerleşim ve boşluklar değiştirilmemelidir.
- 2. Jüri tarihi Başlık Sayfası, İmza Sayfası, Abstract ve Öz'de ilgili yerlere yazılmalıdır.
- İmza sayfasında jüri üyelerinin unvanları doğru olarak yazılmalıdır. Tüm imzalar mavi pilot kalemle atılmalıdır.
- 4. Disiplinlerarası programlarda görevlendirilen öğretim üyeleri için jüri üyeleri kısmında tam zamanlı olarak çalıştıkları anabilim dalı başkanlığının ismi yazılmalıdır. Örneğin: bir öğretim üyesi Biyoteknoloji programında görev yapıyor ve biyoloji bölümünde tam zamanlı çalışıyorsa, İmza sayfasına biyoloji bölümü yazılmalıdır. İstisnai olarak, disiplinler arası program başkanı ve tez danışmanı için disiplinlerarası program adı yazılmalıdır.
- 5. Tezin son sayfasının sayfa numarası Abstract ve Öz'de ilgili yerlere yazılmalıdır.
- 6. Bütün chapterlar, referanslar, ekler ve CV sağ sayfada başlamalıdır. Bunun için kesmeler kullanılmıştır. Kesmelerin kayması fazladan boş sayfaların oluşmasına sebep olabilir. Bu gibi durumlarda paragraf (¶) işaretine tıklayarak kesmeleri görünür hale getirin ve yerlerini kontrol edin.
- 7. Figürler ve tablolar kenar boşluklarına taşmamalıdır.
- **8.** Şablonda yorum olarak eklenen uyarılar dikkatle okunmalı ve uygulanmalıdır.
- Tez yazdırılmadan önce PDF olarak kaydedilmelidir. Şablonda yorum olarak eklenen uyarılar PDF dokümanında yer almamalıdır.
- 10. Bu form aracılığıyla oluşturulan PDF dosyası arkalıönlü baskı alınarak tek bir spiralli cilt haline getirilmelidir.
- **11.** Spiralli hale getirilen tez taslağınızdaki ilgili alanları imzalandıktan sonra, <u>Tez Juri Atama Formu</u> ile birlikte bölüm sekreterliğine teslim edilmelidir.
- 12. Tez taslaklarının kontrol işlemleri tamamlandığında, bu durum öğrencilere METU uzantılı öğrenci e-posta adresleri aracılığıyla duyurulacaktır.
- Tez yazım süreci ile ilgili herhangi bir sıkıntı yaşarsanız, <u>Sıkça Sorulan Sorular (SSS)</u> sayfamızı ziyaret ederek yaşadığınız sıkıntıyla ilgili bir çözüm bulabilirsiniz.

- **1.** Do not change the spacing and placement in the template.
- 2. Write **defense date** to the related places given on Title page, Approval page, Abstract and Öz.
- Write the titles of the examining committee members correctly on Approval Page. Blue ink must be used for all signatures.
- 4. For faculty members working in interdisciplinary programs, the name of the department that they work full-time should be written on the Approval page. For example, if a faculty member staffs in the biotechnology program and works full-time in the biology department, the department of biology should be written on the approval page. Exceptionally, for the interdisciplinary program chair and your thesis supervisor, the interdisciplinary program name should be written.
- 5. Write the page number of the last page in the related places given on Abstract and Öz pages.
- 6. All chapters, references, appendices and CV must be started on the right page. Section Breaks were used for this. Change in the placement of section breaks can result in extra blank pages. In such cases, make the section breaks visible by clicking paragraph (¶) mark and check their position.
- **7.** All figures and tables must be given inside the page. Nothing must appear in the margins.
- **8.** All the warnings given on the comments section through the thesis template must be read and applied.
- **9.** Save your thesis as pdf and Disable all the comments before taking the printout.
- **10.** Print two-sided the PDF file that you have created through this form and make a single spiral bound.
- **11.** Once you have signed the relevant fields in your thesis draft that you spiraled, submit it to the department secretary together with your <u>Thesis Jury Assignment</u> Form.
- **12.** This will be announced to the students via their METU students e-mail addresses when the control of the thesis drafts has been completed.
- If you have any problems with the thesis writing process, you may visit our <u>Frequently Asked</u> <u>Questions (FAQ)</u> page and find a solution to your problem.

🛛 Yukarıda bulunan tüm maddeleri okudum, anladım ve kabul ediyorum. / I have read, understand and accept all of the items above.

Name : İdil Gül Surname : Karakaya E-Mail :idil.karakaya@metu.edu.tr Date : Signature :

DRUG RESISTANCE EFFECT ON METASTASIS BY ACTIVATING EMT PATHWAY IN MENINGIOMA

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

BY

İDİL GÜL KARAKAYA

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN BIOCHEMISTRY

JANUARY 2023

Approval of the thesis:

DRUG RESISTANCE EFFECT ON METASTASIS BY ACTIVATING EMT PATHWAY IN MENINGIOMA

submitted by **İDİL GÜL KARAKAYA** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science** in **Biochemistry**, **Middle East Technical University** by,

Prof. Dr. Halil Kalıpçılar Dean, Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Özgül Persil Çetinkol Head of the Department, Biochemistry	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Can Özen Supervisor, Biotechnology, METU	
Assist. Prof. Dr. Süleyman Coşkun Co-Supervisor, School of Medicine, Yale University	
Examining Committee Members:	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Can Özen Biotechnology, METU	
Assist. Prof. Dr. Ahmet Acar Biology, METU	
Assist. Prof. Dr. Banu Bayyurt Kocabaş Biology, METU	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Pelin Mutlu Biotechnology, Ankara University	
Assist. Prof. Dr. Süleyman Coşkun School of Medicine, Yale University	

Date: 16.01.2023

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name Last name : İdil Gül Karakaya

Signature :

ABSTRACT

DRUG RESISTANCE EFFECT ON METASTASIS BY ACTIVATING EMT PATHWAY IN MENINGIOMA

Karakaya, İdil Gül Master of Science, Biochemistry Supervisor: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Can Özen Co-Supervisor: Assist. Prof. Dr. Süleyman Coşkun

January 2023, 119 pages

Cancer is one of the leading and often fatal diseases in humans. Cancerous cells can arise within any tissue or organ in the body. Treatment of cancer includes but is not limited to radiotherapy, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, or targeted therapy options. Meningioma, one of the brain malignancies, is the subject of this research. As it is known, cancer cells can spread to other organs and this is called metastasis. Different biological pathways contribute to the migration of cells. Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is the pathway that primarily affects cancer metastasis. Certain EMT indicators and transcription factors are differentially regulated as the EMT pathway is activated. E-cadherin, N-cadherin, Vimentin, and β -Catenin are important EMT indicators. In our study, *CDH1* expression is lower in a benign meningioma cell line, AC599, compared to a malignant meningioma cell line, IOMM Lee. It is well known that *CDH2* and *VIM* expressions increase, while *CDH1* expressions decrease during EMT. This increment of *VIM* and *CDH2* has been seen in the AC599 meningioma cell line upon gaining JQ1 drug resistance (AC599 JR). We observed that the expression of *SNAIL*, *SLUG*, and *TWIST* is increased in the

JQ1 Resistant AC599 cell line (AC599 JR) more than in the JQ1 Resistant IOMM Lee (IOMM Lee JR) cell line. Chemoresistance is a major obstacle in cancer therapy and could be caused by various factors and pathways, among which the EMT mechanism has recently received attention for its role in drug resistance in addition to metastasis. EMT contributes to drug resistance in many cancer types, especially pancreatic, bladder, and breast cancer. Overall, our study indicates that JQ1 drug resistance increases migration and mesenchymal properties of AC599, benign meningioma cell line more than IOMM Lee, malignant meningioma cell line. RNAseq data indicates that STAT family transcription factors play a major role in JQ1 chemoresistant meningioma cell lines. STAT3 inhibition by using Stattic reduces meningioma cell proliferation and migration, and in some cases stops cell migration. This observation is specific to the NF2 mutation status of meningioma. NF2 protein is known to play a role in EMT activation and NF2 loss is very common in meningioma which is associated with the downregulation of *CDH1* in meningioma. In conclusion, JQ1 and Stattic drug treatments are viable therapy options for meningioma chemotherapy. Furthermore, our results suggest the importance of cell and pathway-specific approaches for effective cancer treatment.

Keywords: Meningioma, EMT, Drug Resistance, JQ1, Bromodomain Inhibitor

MENİNJİOMDA EMT YOLUNU AKTİVE EDEREK İLAÇ DİRENCİNİN METASTAZ ÜZERİNDE ETKİSİNİN ARAŞTIRILMASI

Karakaya, İdil Gül Yüksek Lisans, Biyokimya Tez Yöneticisi: Doç. Dr. Can Özen Ortak Tez Yöneticisi: Dr. Öğretim Üyesi Süleyman Coşkun

Ocak 2023, 119 sayfa

Kanser, insanlarda en önde gelen ve genellikle ölümcül hastalıklardan birisidir. Kanserli hücreler vücuttaki herhangi bir doku veya organda ortaya çıkabilir. Kanser tedavisi radyoterapi, kemoterapi, immünoterapi veya hedefe yönelik tedavi seçeneklerini içerir fakat bu tedavi seçenekleri bunlarla sınırlı değildir. Beyin malignitelerinden biri olan menenjiyom bu araştırmanın konusunu oluşturmaktadır. Bilindiği gibi kanser hücreleri diğer organlara yayılabilir ve buna metastaz denir. Farklı biyolojik yolaklar, hücrelerin göçüne katkıda bulunmaktadır. Epitelden mezenkimal geçiş yolağı (EMT), birincil olarak kanser metastazını etkileyen yolaktır. Belirli EMT göstergeleri ve transkripsiyon faktörleri, EMT yolu etkinleştirildiğinde farklı şekilde düzenlenir. E-cadherin, N-cadherin, Vimentin ve β-Catenin önemli EMT göstergeleridir. Çalışmamızda *CDH1* ekspresyonu, malign meninjiyoma hücresi, IOMM Lee, ile karşılaştırıldığında iyi huylu meninjiyoma hücreleri AC599'da azalmıştır. EMT sırasında özellikle CDH2 ve VIM ifadeleri artarken CDH1 ifadeleri azalır. VIM ve CDH2'deki bu artış JQ1 ilaç direnci kazanması üzerine AC599 meningioma hücre hattında (AC599 JR) görülmüştür. SNAILI, SLUG ve TWIST ifadesinin JQ1 dirençli AC599 (AC599 JR) hücre hattında,

JQ1 dirençli IOMM Lee (IOMM Lee JR) hücre hattına göre daha fazla arttığını tespit ettik. İlaç direnci, kanser tedavisinde önemli bir engeldir. Son zamanlarda EMT mekanizması metastazın yanı sıra ilaç direncindeki rolü nedeniyle dikkat çekmektedir. EMT mekanizması bunu çeşitli faktörler ve yolakları etkileyerek yapmaktadır. EMT, başta pankreas, mesane ve meme kanseri olmak üzere birçok kanser türünde ilaç direncinde rol oynamaktadır. Genel olarak, çalışmamız JQ1 ilaç direncinin iyi huylu meningioma hücre dizisi AC599'un migrasyon ve mezenkimal hücre özelliklerini IOMM Lee, malign meningioma hücre dizisine göre daha fazla artırdığını göstermektedir. RNAseq verileri, STAT ailesi transkripsiyon faktörlerinin JQ1 dirençli meningioma hücre hatlarında önemli bir rol oynadığını göstermektedir. Stattic kullanarak STAT3 susturulduğunda, meningioma hücre bölünmesi ve hücre göçü azaldığını gözlemledik hatta bazı durumlarda hücre göçünü tamamen durdu. Elde edilen bu sonuç, meningioma hücresinin NF2 mutasyon durumuna özgüdür. NF2 proteininin EMT aktivasyonunda rol oynadığı bilinmektedir ve meninjiyomda NF2 kaybi en yaygin mutasyon olup CDH1 ekpresyonunun azalmasına da neden olduğu bilinmektedir. Sonuç olarak, JQ1 ve Static ilaç tedavileri, meningioma kemoterapisi için uygun tedavi seçenekleridir. Ayrıca, çalışmalarımız etkili kanser tedavisi için hücreye ve yola özgü yaklaşımların önemini de göstermektedir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Meninjiyoma, EMT, İlaç Direnci, JQ1, Bromodomain İnhibitör

To my family and my biggest supporters

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Asst. Professor Süleyman Coşkun for his valuable support, guidance, encouragement, and supervision during this thesis study. I am very grateful for his time devoted to this study and sincerely appreciate his careful revision.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all of the members of Coşkun Laboratory. I deeply appreciate and thank İrem Yücel, and Özlem Neyişçi for their friendship, for their endless support, for the stimulating discussions, for answering my all-absurd questions, for putting up with me, and for all the fun we have had through all these years. I would like to thank Pelin Demir, who is an intern in our lab, for her willingness to learn and help with experiments, emotional support, and friendship throughout the research. I would like to thank Asst. Professor Altuğ Özçelikkale and his master's student Barış Dede Kargınoğlu for their help in my imaging assays.

I would like to thank my biggest supporters İlkcan Erdem, İrem Gürcan, İrem Ural, and Deniz Gündoğan for their endless encouragement, support, cheerleading, love, and friendship. Also, my deepest thanks are to Metin Eren, for his patience, assistance, support, encouragement, moral support, care, understanding, and love at every stage of this thesis.

Finally, I wish to express my deepest love and gratitude to my mom, dad, and sister for their endless patience, love, support, and immeasurable sacrifices in every step of my life.

This work is partially funded by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey with BİDEB 2232-A International Fellowship for Outstanding Researchers Program (Project No. 118C369).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABS	VTRACTv
ÖΖ.	vii
ACK	XNOWLEDGMENTSx
TAE	SLE OF CONTENTS xi
LIST	Г OF FIGURES xiv
LIST	Γ OF ABBREVIATIONS xvi
CHA	APTERS
1	INTRODUCTION1
1.1	One of The Brain Cancers: Meningioma3
1.2	Metastasis and Meningioma Interaction7
1.3	Epigenetics Mechanism and Meningioma8
1.3.1	DNA Methylation10
1.3.2	2 Histone Modification11
1.4	Role of Bromodomain and Extra Terminal Domain (BET) Proteins BRD4 in
Epig	enetic Regulations
1.5	Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Meningioma14
1.6	WNT- β–Catenin Pathway and Meningioma Interaction17
1.7	Drug Resistance in Meningioma Interaction with EMT18
1.8	Aim of the Study20
2	MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1	Cell Line Characteristics
2.2	Cell Culture

22
23
23
23
24
24
25
25
27
Data
33
50
64
83
89
107
108
113

D.	Stattic IC50 Values of Non-Resistant and Resistant IOMM Lee, CH157 -N	[N
and	AC599	114
E.	STAT1 Log Fold Change in JQ1 Resistant AC599 Cell Line Compared to	
Pare	ental	115
F.	Immunofloerecense Staining Intensity Comparision	116
G.	Compositions of the Buffers Used in This Study	118
H.	EMT Biomarker qPCR Primers	119

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Number of new cases in 2020, both genders, all ages2
Figure 1.2. Cells change due to genetic mutation, proliferation, and metastases
throughout tumor development
Figure 1.3. Cross-section of a human skull. The figure is focused on the brain-skull
interface where the meninges covers the outermost layer of the brain and spinal
cord4
Figure 1.4. Healthy cells gain cancer cell properties
Figure 1.5. Histone modification (acetylation) was shown in the figure12
Figure 1.6. EMT is a reversible pathway
Figure 3.1. IOMM Lee-IOMM Lee JR, CH157-CH157JR, AC599-AC599 JR
bright field image for a morphological change. JR stands for JQ1 Resistant26
Figure 3.2. Resistant and Non-resistant IOMM Lee were treated with DMSO and
JQ129
Figure 3.3. Resistant and Non-resistant AC599 were treated with DMSO and JQ1.
Figure 3.4. Migration trace of AC599 after 24 hours DMSO control, JQ1, and
Stattic treatment was analyzed with a fluorescent microscope and microscope
chamber
Figure 3.5. Migration trace of AC599 JR after 24 hours DMSO control, JQ1, and
Stattic treatment was analyzed with a fluorescent microscope and microscope
chamber
Figure 3.6. Migration trace of IOMM Lee after 24 hours DMSO control, JQ1, and
Stattic treatment was analyzed with a fluorescent microscope and microscope
chamber41
Figure 3.7. Migration trace of IOMM Lee JR after 24 hours DMSO control, JQ1,
and Stattic treatment was analyzed with a fluorescent microscope and microscope
chamber

Figure 3.8. Cells were treated with Mitomycin for 2 hours to achieve cell cycle
synchronization before the wound healing assay
Figure 3.9. The effects of Stattic and JQ1 treatment on cell cycle in non-resistant
and JQ1 Resistant meningioma cells were detected by flow cytometry assay 46
Figure 3.10. Cell cycle progression of IOMM Lee, AC599, IOMM Lee JR, and
AC599 JR after 24 hours Stattic and JQ1 treatment
Figure 3.11. IOMM Lee meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 µl pipet tip,
then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs
Figure 3.11. IOMM Lee meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 µl pipet tip,
then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs
Figure 3.12. IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 µl pipet
tip, then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs
Figure 3.12. IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 µl pipet
tip, then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs55
Figure 3.13. AC599 meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 μ l pipet tip, then
JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs
Figure 3.13. AC599 meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 μ l pipet tip, then
JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs
Figure 3.14. AC599 JR meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 µl pipet tip,
then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs
Figure 3.14. AC599 JR meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 µl pipet tip,
then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs
Figure 3.15. SNAIL which is an EMT TFs relative gene expression among
meningioma cell line with different treatments was shown
Figure 3.16. SLUG which is an EMT TFs relative gene expression among
meningioma cell line with different treatments was shown
Figure 3.17. <i>TWIST</i> which is an EMT TFs relative gene expression among
Figure 3.17. <i>TWIST</i> which is an EMT TFs relative gene expression among meningioma cell line with different treatments was shown
 Figure 3.17. TWIST which is an EMT TFs relative gene expression among meningioma cell line with different treatments was shown

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ABBREVIATIONS

CDH1 E- Cadherin

- CDH2 N-Cadherin
- **CTNNB1** β-Catenin
- **EMT** Epithelial-Mesenchymal transition
- JR JQ1 Resistance
- NR Non-Resistant
- PAGE Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- **PBS** Phosphate-buffered saline
- **PBST** Phosphate-buffered saline and Triton X-100
- **PI** Propidium iodide
- SDS Sodium dodecyl sulfate
- **TBS-T** Tris-buffered saline and Tween-20
- **VIM** Vimentin

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Cancer which results from the uncontrolled growth of cells in our body (Gouzerh et al., 2022) is one of the most common diseases and it is the second leading cause of death worldwide. Cancer can occur in any part of our body, and there are more than 100 types of diseases based on the cell of origin and the underlying mutations. Lung cancer, female breast cancer, bowel cancer, and prostate cancer are the four types of cancer that are most frequently diagnosed worldwide which, together make up more than 40 percent of all cancer malignancies diagnosed worldwide (Figure 1.1). By 2040, there will be 27.5 million new instances of cancer annually throughout the world based on the UK Cancer Research Institute. With an incidence of 100.000, the first five most common cancers in Turkey are lung (30.13), prostate (24.33), skin (18.91), breast (17.96), and stomach (9.92) cancers. Cancer incidence growth rates are higher in males compared to female cancer incidence growth rates (Yilmaz et al., 2010).



Figure 1.1. Number of new cases in 2020, both genders, all ages

Number and type of new cancer cases in the world (2020) in both gender and all ages. The figure is taken from the World Health Organization (WHO) cancer fact sheet.

In general, cancer can be subdivided into two main categories based on its prognosis; while some types of tumors are malignant, others are benign. Malignant cancer (or cancerous) cells are the group posing the real danger. This group of cancer cells begins to divide irregularly and uncontrollably and is abnormal (Figure 1.2). They also affect the cells within their surrounding tissue by compressing them, and infiltrating into or destroying them. Furthermore, they migrate to distant parts of the body via blood and lymph circulation. In contrast to malignant cancer cells, benign tumors are considered non-malignant and can grow larger in size but they do not invade another part of the body as malignant ones and often stays as a non-life threatening mass in the body.



Figure 1.2. Cells change due to genetic mutation, proliferation, and metastases throughout tumor development.

The figure is taken from "National Institutes of Health (US), Biological Sciences Curriculum Study. NIH Curriculum Supplement Series [Internet]. Bethesda (MD): National Institutes of Health (US); 2007. Understanding Cancer".

1.1 One of The Brain Cancers: Meningioma

Cancer cells can be seen in every organ and tissue. They can have different types, properties, and genetic changes; such as mutations, copy number variations, epigenetic modifications, and various other malignancies. Those differences are all based on the cell of origin and the location where cancer cells begin to grow. An intracranial tumor also referred to as a brain tumor, is an abnormal mass of tissue where brain cells start to divide and grow out of control, appearing to be unaffected by the systems that regulate normal cells' proliferation as well as apoptosis. Although there are over 100 known types of brain tumors; primary and metastatic are the two basic classifications. Gliomas make up about 78 percent of malignant brain tumors in adults, making them the most common type which arises from the glia, or the brain's supporting cells. Astrocytes, ependymal cells, and

oligodendroglial cells are the different types of these cells (or oligos), and cancer that arises from these cells are called astrocytomas, ependymomas, and glioblastomas respectively. (Herholz et al., 2012).



Figure 1.3. Cross-section of a human skull. The figure is focused on the brain-skull interface where the meninges covers the outermost layer of the brain and spinal cord.

The marks in the brain figure indicate the most common types of meningiomas and their corresponding locations. The figure was taken from Cleveland Clinic.

Meningiomas, make up 10 to 15 percent of all brain neoplasms out of which only a small fraction is malignant; however, they are still the most frequent among all intracranial tumors. The meninges, the membrane-like structures that cover and protect the brain and spinal cord, are the cell of origin where these malignancies

arise. The brain and the spinal cord are surrounded by three protective layers: Dura mater, Arachnoid, and Pia mater. All these three are called 'Meninx' (Figure 1.3). The origin of the term meningioma is the spider web-shaped 'arachnoid' membrane; however, it is now used to refer to 'Meninx', which is the tumor of the cerebral membrane (Marosi et al., 2008). Nearly 30% of the central nervous system (CNS) tumors in adults are due to meningiomas, which originate from arachnoidal cap cells of the leptomeninges (Kamamoto et al., 2019). Most meningiomas are benign tumors and grow slowly; however, some meningiomas pose risks due to their location, pathology, and size. Its incidence is 4.5 per 100,000 for healthy people; however, most meningiomas can develop unnoticed therefore the number of incidences is estimated to be much higher (Rodríguez-Hernández et al., 2022). The incidence in the female population is two times higher than in males. Its incidence increases with age and is most commonly observed between the ages of 30 to 70. Moreover, people with a genetic disorder called 'Neurofibromatosis Type 2' (*NF2* gene deficiency) are more likely to develop meningiomas (Bachir et al., 2021).

The *NF2* mutation is the common molecular change found in meningiomas, a mutation in the Neurofibromatosis Type 2 (*NF2*) gene located on chromosome 22 (Ruttledge et al., 1994). Studies show that *NF2* mutation is more common in fibroblasts than in meningothelial meningiomas (Kros et al., 2001). The gene product of the *NF2* gene is called Merlin (moesin-ezrin-radixin like) or Schwannomin. Actin acts as a linker between the cytoskeleton and transmembrane proteins. Thus, it plays a role in cell-cell or cell-matrix bonding. It is argued that merlin functions as a tumor suppressor protein and inhibits cell proliferation (McClatchey, 2003).

Using animal models, the role of *NF2* changes in meningioma development has been demonstrated (Kalamarides et al., 2002, Kalamarides et al., 2011). Although human meningiomas generally show *NF2* changes, some meningiomas are the *NF2* wild type. In addition to *NF2* mutation, mutations in other genes such as *SMO*, *AKT1*, and *KLF4/TRAF7* are observed in meningiomas (Clark et al., 2013, Abedalthagafi et al., 2016).

World Health Organization (WHO) stated that primary CNS malignancies are graded according to the type, size, and location of the tumor, as well as the extent of tumor metastasis, genetic evidence, patient age, and tumor remnants following surgery if that is an option. Meningiomas can be categorized into three histological grades, according to the World Health Organization (WHO): benign (Grade I), atypical (Grade II), and anaplastic meningiomas (Grade III) (Combs et al.,2011).

Grade I meningiomas, are the most common ones, are low-grade tumors. They are benign tumor cells that grow slowly.

Grade II atypical meningiomas are intermediate-grade tumors, which hold a higher chance of coming back after removal.

Grade III anaplastic meningiomas are malignant. In other words, they are fastgrowing tumors.

Nowadays, *NF2* mutations are used in meningioma classifications besides WHO classification. Cytogenetic alterations of chromosome 22 and the *NF2* gene are characteristic genetic alterations in early meningioma tumorigenesis and are frequently noted in higher-grade tumors (Alahmadi & Croul, 2011). Grade II and III tumors, as opposed to benign meningiomas, exhibit a more complex cytogenetic and molecular background with oncogene activation, tumor suppressor gene inactivation, and changes in other genes implicated in various cellular processes (Rodríguez-Hernández et al., 2022).

Radiotherapy, chemotherapy, and surgical methods are generally used in the treatment of cancer patients. In addition to these, hormonal treatments, targeted therapies, and biochemical drug treatment methods are applied. These treatment methods can be applied alone or together. For example, targeted therapies can be employed along with chemotherapy. Targeted therapies are a special type of treatment in which biomolecule binds to the specific cancer biomarkers in tumor cells inhibiting their function. In recent years, researchers try to figure out personalized therapies for more efficient cancer treatments. Personalized therapies

target specific mechanisms that are affected by certain genes and signaling pathways. Cancer cells have unique gene expressions, mutations, and properties, therefore personalized therapies offer the best treatment for cancer patients. A better understanding of the genetic and epigenetic makeup of cancer allows us to design more efficient personal therapies in near future.

1.2 Metastasis and Meningioma Interaction

Cancer treatments, such as chemotherapy, immunotherapy, or radiation therapy are therapy procedures that stop cancer cell proliferation, metastasis, and growth. Most cancer types expand onto other organs or tissues by metastasis. Cancer therapies fight all cancer cells in the body which are primer or metastatic cells. Metastasis is a combination of the Greek words "meta" (next) and "stasis" (displacement) (Babaei et al., 2021). It is the case when tumor cells migrate from the tissues directly or via blood lymph to other regions; and the resultant secondary tumors, metastases, cause the death of 90% of cancer patients. The formation of new capillaries (a process known as angiogenesis) provides tumor cells with higher demand for oxygen and nutrients and provides a gateway for a subset of tumor cells that are capable of transforming and activating migration (Figure 1.4). Malignant tumors not only harm themselves but also damage other tissues and cells. Metastasized cells carry the cellular characteristics of the original tumor into the tissues they migrate (Eble & Niland, 2019).

Multiple causes trigger metastasis in a tumor cell. Factors such as changes in the genetic code, epigenetic factors, inhibited or activated biochemical pathways, and resistance of cells to drugs affect the metastasis of cancer cells.



Figure 1.4. Healthy cells gain cancer cell properties.

After they become cancer cells primary cancer cells start to grow and proliferate. After a while cancer cells acquire metastatic properties. If there are any blood vessels near the primary cancer cells intravasation occurs. Then cancer cells circulate in blood vessels until they locate in another organ or tissue.

1.3 Epigenetics Mechanism and Meningioma

A study has highlighted the six biological abilities that are acquired throughout the evolution of human malignancies, namely, sustaining proliferative signals, evading growth suppressors, resisting cell death, permitting replicative immortality, generating angiogenesis, and activating invasion and metastasis collectively known as Cancer Hallmarks (Hanahan, and Weinberg et al. 2011). In 2022, two more

hallmarks are added to the list which are reprogramming cellular metabolism and avoiding immune destruction (Nedelcu, 2022).

There are an increasing number of studies in recent years indicating the importance of epigenetics in meningioma pathology. Increasing amounts of data point to the etiology of meningiomas being significantly influenced by aberrant epigenetic regulation (Murnyák et al., 2015). In meningiomas with prognostic and therapeutic significance, altered DNA methylation, microRNA expression, histone, and chromatin alterations are frequently observed.

Epigenetics refers to changes that are not caused by DNA alterations such as mutations or misalignment but consist of changes in gene expression. These changes directly affect the events taking place in the cell. Epigenetic changes also affect the formation or progression of diseases and play a crucial role in many human diseases. For instance, epigenetic changes play a significant role in the formation of the development of cancerous cells. These changes affect the biochemical pathways in cells, protein and RNA synthesis, cell death, and even the morphological shapes of cells. Meningiomas have an incomplete epigenetic profile. Mutant epigenetic modifiers are thought to be involved in abnormal microRNA synthesis, DNA methylation, and histone and chromatin modifications are among the biomarkers of progression and relapse. (Murnyák et al., 2015).

The primary events that cause epigenetic changes are methylation, acetylation, histone modifications, non-coding RNAs, and polycomb mechanisms (Talebian et al., 2020). Although several of these events are sometimes seen together, different epigenetic regulations are observed in different tumors. The epigenetic regulations can be changed based on the genetic and biochemical characteristics of tumors, their location, and the environmental factors to which they are exposed. Gene expression linked to EMT is seen to be significantly influenced by epigenetic regulatory mechanisms (Jia et al., 2019). Alterations in the frequency of DNA methylation within the CpG islands and post-translational covalent changes of histone proteins are major epigenetic modifications that go along with aberrant genetic

reprogramming in cancer cells (Nowak & Bednarek, 2021). Overall, these are stable but reversible changes in our genome which ultimately regulate gene expression that contributes to the onset and progress of cancer (Braicu et al., 2022). Therefore, aberrant epigenetic status offers a viable target for personalized cancer therapy approaches.

1.3.1 DNA Methylation

One of the epigenetic features that occur with DNA methylation is hypermethylation. DNA methylation occurs when a methyl group is added to the position of the 50cytosine ring of the CpG dinucleotides. When methyl binds to CpG islands, it usually leads to the arrest of gene activation. CpG islands include regions where RNA transcription or DNA transcription occurs. When there is methylation in CpG regions, the gene region to be read is closed by methyl, thus preventing the transcription of the gene region. Nevertheless, inhibition of transcription is not permanent. DNA methylation can be recycled, and this phenomenon is called demethylation.

One of the epigenetic features that occur with DNA methylation is hypermethylation (i.e., an increase in methylation). Hypermethylation occurs by methylation transfer to cytosine in CpG dinucleotides of histone methyltransferases (HDAC) (Kulis & Esteller, 2010). Conversely, numerous other processes link extensive hypomethylation (i.e., decrease in methylation) to the occurrence of cancer and malignancy. Hypomethylation affects cancer and malignancy by playing a role in the promoter region of the tumor suppressor gene and transcription (Kato, 2022).

In cancers, global hypomethylation occurs in the DNA, which is accompanied by hypermethylation at other sites. Oncogenes and other genes are expressed when there is abnormally low methylation, whereas tumor suppressor genes are inhibited when there is excessive methylation (Fardi et al., 2018). Dysregulation of DNA methylation can result in incorrect repression of tumor suppressors or overexpression

of oncogenes, influencing the formation of a variety of illnesses, including cancer. Abnormal DNA methylation happens at certain genes in practically all neoplasms, suggesting that such a change could be used as a diagnostic biomarker in cancer prevention and treatment. Histone methylation is a process that can be reversed. When histone methylation-induced epigenetic modifications are reversed, the expression of oncogenes, the expression of other genes, and the activation of pathways are altered, and cancer formation can be avoided.

1.3.2 Histone Modification

The DNA consists of two long helix structures. Due to their length, they do not fit into the cell as they are, forming a more condensed structure by being wrapped in essential proteins called histones. A nucleosome is made up of DNA that spins one and two-thirds around the protein core containing 2 copies of each H2A, H2B, H3, and H4 histone (Ors Kumoglu et al., 2022). The binding of nucleosomes to each other forms histone proteins. The binding of the DNA to the histones forms chromosome structures that fit into the cell nucleus more easily. The stability or instability of chromatin for transcription, replication, and repair is influenced by the precise arrangement of changed amino acids in the histone tail (Fardi et al., 2018). Histones are modified by environmental conditions, the location of the cell, or biochemical events. The continuous and interconnected structure of the DNA and the histones creates coordination between DNA methylation and histone modifications (Cao & Yan, 2020). Besides DNA condensation, histone proteins are also involved in the regulation of gene expression by posttranslational modifications which mainly occur along their N-terminal tail (Miller & Grant, 2012). The processes that produce these modifications are methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitination, and sumoylation (Nathan et al., 2003; Calabrese et al., 2012). The structure of chromatin changes and regulates gene transcription as a result of histone modification. Among the histone modifications, acetylation and methylation are the most common. Histone lysine acetylation is a well-studied histone alteration that is often associated with activated genes (Figure 1.5). Histone acetylation of histone deacetylases (HATs) is responsible for the acetylation of histones and histone deacetylases (HDACs) lead to their deacetylation (Marks et al., 2004).





HATs (histone acetyltransferase) play role in histone acetylation while HDAC plays role in histone deacetylase. Acetylation of histone changes gene expression.

Despite the importance of altered DNA methylation, aberrant microRNA expression, and mutant epigenetic modifiers (EMGs) during the modification processes of histone and chromatin in cancer biology; understanding of the epigenetic configuration appears to be incomplete in meningioma (Murnyák et al., 2015). Therefore, the role of epigenetics in regulating critical cellular pathways in meningioma development and progress needs to be extensively studied.

1.4 Role of Bromodomain and Extra Terminal Domain (BET) Proteins BRD4 in Epigenetic Regulations

Bromodomain and Extra Terminal Domain (BET) Proteins carry out a variety of functions, including histone modifications, chromatin remodeling, transcription factor binding, and enhancer or mediator complex formation. Furthermore, they are responsible for both transcription's start and elongation. Most BET protein family proteins also contain other structurally conserved modular domains that work independently or in tandem with the BET protein family to influence protein-protein or protein-nucleic acid interactions (Donati et al., 2018).

The modified histones sometimes bind more tightly to DNA, silencing certain parts of the DNA and preventing transcription. Sometimes they are separated from the DNA parts to which they are attached, causing the regions that should not be transcripted usually to be read (Shi & Vakoc, 2014). As a result of bromodomain protein - DNA interactions, some of the genes or transcription factors (TF) are read while others are not. These changes in the transcription of DNA are effective in realizing pathways or biochemical events in the cell.

Whether a cell will be metastatic or not may be based on earlier stages before the tumor develops. A variety of differentiation pathways to which cells are exposed can affect the fate of cells. Epigenetic factors cause genes in certain regions to be activated or inhibited by the histones they bind, affecting gene expression and downstream biochemical pathways.

BRD4 is a crucial transcriptional and epigenetic regulator that affects both tumor progression and embryogenesis (Donati et al., 2018). Therefore, inhibiting the activity of any of these BrDs and/or the BET protein provides an effective treatment for cancer that relies on these modifications (Muddassir et al., 2021). Changes in the control of BET protein activities, particularly BRD4, have been strongly linked to inflammatory and cancerous disorders. Due to this, BET protein is a desirable therapeutic target (Taniguchi, 2016). In this study, the JQ1 drug, a small molecule

BRD4 inhibitor, is investigated in meningioma cell lines both with their aftertreatment effects but also in JQ1 chemoresistant states particularly focusing on their role in EMT regulatory pathways.

1.5 Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Meningioma

One of the pathways affected by epigenetic regulations is Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT). EMT markers' or EMT TFs' gene expression can be affected by enhancing or inhibiting gene expression. In addition to cell migratory properties, cancer cells' resistance to drugs was shown to change during the EMT process.

The Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) pathway plays a role in the mesenchymal acquisition of epithelial cells (Gloushankova et al., 2018). Epithelial cells are round, fixed cells with complete intercellular bonds and thus, cannot move much (Figure 1.6). Suppose that these cells become active in the EMT pathway. In that case, they acquire the characteristics of more extensive mesenchymal cells, in which the intercellular bond is weakened. Therefore, can move quickly and cause metastasis in cancer cells (Figure 1.6). Dividing EMTs into three separate biological subtypes according to the biological context they occur in was proposed in two subsequent EMT meetings in Poland (2007) and at Cold Spring Harbour Laboratories (2008) (Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009). This pathway is divided into three groups: EMT I, II, and III which play role in development, wound healing, and metastasis respectively. EMT I is mainly seen in embryonic development, neural crest formation, and the gastrulation phase (Figure 1.6). During embryonic development, cells need to migrate to different places to form different structures and tissues, and EMT I is active at this stage (Debnath et al., 2021). EMT II participates in healing tissues and wounds and the formation of myofibrils and the closing of the wounds by communicating with each other and extending the cells (Marconi et al., 2021). EMT III is seen during the metastasis of tumor cells. Tumor cells metastasize to move from one tissue to another (Lee et al., 2006). Briefly, cellcell connections between cells are weakened, allowing cells to move from one place to another upon gaining metastatic properties (Micalizzi et al., 2017). In addition to its major role in metastasis, type III EMT also plays role in other biological mechanisms such as cell death, resistance to cellular aging, resistance to different types of therapy, immune regulation, acquisition of stem cell-like properties that are important for carcinogenesis (Kalluri & Weinberg, 2009).



Figure 1.6. EMT is a reversible pathway.

Epithelial cells are cuboidal, round, tightly packed, and non-motile. They gain spindle, metastatic, motile, and low cell-cell interaction properties with their transition to mesenchymal cells. This figure was adapted from Debnath et al., 2021.

When the EMT pathway is active, there is either an increase or decrease in specific EMT markers and transcription factors as these phenomena can be bi-directional (Figure 6). Significant EMT markers are *E-cadherin (CDH1)*, β -catenin, Claudin, and ZO-1 are markers of epithelial cells; while *N-cadherin (CDH2)*, Vimentin, and

 β -Catenin are markers of mesenchymal cells (Riemann et al., 2019) (Figure 1.6). For cells to develop metastatic properties, they must lose their epithelial properties first (Y. Wang & Zhou, 2013). This event changes cells' stability, morphology, and gene expression. While CDH1 decreases in the cell, the epithelial properties are lost; mesenchymal markers such as CDH2 and Vimentin increase as they gain mesenchymal properties (Y. Wang & Zhou, 2013). *CDH2* is a marker of mesenchymal cells such as fibroblasts. CDH1 is an essential protein for cells to stick together and resist mechanical stress (Bruner & Derksen, 2017). The suppression of *CDH1* causes the cells to become active.

Besides specific EMT biomarkers, it is well-known that EMT is controlled by many transcription factors (TFs). The TFs of the primary EMT tokens are SNAIL, SLUG, ZEB1, ZEB2, and TWIST (Snatamaria et al., 2017). Transcription Factors: SNAIL and SLUG suppress the CDH1 gene expression. Cancer cell proliferation, invasiveness, and metastasis have been demonstrated to increase when CDH1 is down-regulated (Cordani et al., 2019). Numerous mesenchymal markers have been demonstrated to be upregulated by EMT TFs (J. M. Lee et al., 2006). Another signaling molecule that affects EMT is transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β). The increase in TGF- β expression causes a decrease in *CDH1* expression and epithelial properties in cells with epithelial characteristics. In contrast to $TGF-\beta$, CDH1 is activated by KLF4, another critical TF especially known for its role in stem cell maintenance. KLF4 functions as a MET inhibitor or a negative regulator of EMT (Debnath et al., 2021). KLF4 expression; however, was discovered to be downregulated in cells going through EMT when TGF- β was present (Garg, 2013). EMT is also affected by the activation of different pathways. Studies have shown there are crucial signaling pathways for cells to maintain their mesenchymal character; canonical and noncanonical WNT signaling pathways. Although epithelial cells also have these signaling pathways and secrete their ligands, a high number of inhibitory proteins are also secreted simultaneously to prevent the activation of the EMT program to retain epithelial cell identity.

EMT is a reversible process, and cells can regain their epithelial character after completing the invasion and metastasis processes; the reverse process of EMT is named Mesenchymal to Epithelial transition (MET) (Chen et al., 2017) (Figure 1.6). It should be noted here that not every cell in a tumor exhibits EMT characteristics and sometimes only partial EMT is observed (Nieto et al. 2016). Activation of the EMT pathway may be affected by epigenetic changes which is a reversible process. When epigenetic changes trigger EMT pathway activation, the resulting EMT pathway must also be reversed at a certain level after these epigenetic changes are modified back to their normal state. In fact, whenever the EMT pathway is reversed upon which malignant cells start to lose mesenchymal properties and regain epithelial properties, this can also reduce or even reverse the drug resistance of malignant cancer cells. These reversible epigenetic changes affect many other critical pathways which involve in cancer pathology; therefore, targeting epigenetic change provides new approaches to cancer therapy.

1.6 WNT- β–Catenin Pathway and Meningioma Interaction

Cells produced by Type III EMT have the potential to penetrate and spread across the circulatory system, leading to systemic symptoms of cancerous tumor development (Acloque et al., 2009). When EMT III-generated migratory cancer cells have reached distant tissue beds, cells become secondary tumors with an epithelial character (Trimboli et al., 2008). Several signaling pathways are involved in EMT III (metastasis of a tumor). These include transforming growth factor beta (TGF β), WNT, Notch, and Hedgehog, which activate EMT transcription factors (EMT TFs). Some transcription factors such as *SNAIL*, *TWIST*, and *ZEB* have been identified as master regulators of EMT. In addition to these, there are some EMT TFs, including *SOX* and *FOX* transcription factors, which bind to certain DNA sequences to control the EMT-target genes. In addition to *CDH1*, a transcription target for repression by SNAIL and several other EMT TFs, there are some key proteins engaged in epithelial cell–cell junction formation.

WNT- β -Catenin signaling is a growth control pathway that plays a role in EMT regulation in cancer cells. WNT signaling branches out into canonical (β -Catenin dependent activity) and noncanonical (β -Catenin independent activity) pathways (Komiya & Habas, 2008). A crucial structural element of the adhesion complex is β -Catenin (Shapiro et al., 1997). It also acts as a transcriptional co-activator in the WNT signaling pathway; a pathway used reiteratively during development to control cell fate decisions and one implicated in cancer in many tissues.

The WNT signaling pathway is one of the main cellular pathways involved in the embryonic development of cells (Sanz-Ezquerro et al., 2017). Studies carried out so far indicate that the WNT pathway also plays a role in the formation of meningioma tumors. The main element of the canonical WNT signaling pathway is β -Catenin (MacDonald et al., 2009). When the WNT signaling pathway is inactive, β -Catenin deposited in the cytoplasm is targeted, phosphorylated, and cleaved by a degradation complex composed of AXIN, APC, GSK3 β , and CK1 (Lecarpentier et al., 2019). When the WNT pathway is activated, the degradation complex is attracted to the cell membrane, and β -Catenin is not phosphorylated. Non-phosphorylated β -Catenin enters the nucleus and increases the expression of TFs, which play a role in cell metastasis and development. When TFs with increased expression increase in an uncontrolled manner, the metastatic and tumoral properties of the cells also increase (Rutkowski et al., 2018).

1.7 Drug Resistance in Meningioma Interaction with EMT

Cancer treatment drugs are first put on the market by going through the stages of laboratory and then clinical research. Currently, there are approximately seven hundred drugs on the market. Furthermore, approximately 1300 new cancer drugs are in the final phase of clinical trials (Kunnumakkara et al., 2019). As the number of drugs increases, the resistance of patients to drugs also changes and increases. Therefore, determining drug resistance and understanding its causes will play a major role in increasing the treatment efficiency of cancer chemotherapy (Housman
et al., 2014). Since the genetic codes and profiles of cancer cells are different from normal cells, we can divide chemoresistance into two groups. The first is intrinsic (or de novo) drug resistance, which is caused by the genetic code that cancer cells have before treatment (Mansoori et al., 2017). The second is acquired drug resistance, which is caused by the fact that drugs change the metabolism of cancer cells during chemotherapy and cause mutations in the genes they target (Emran et al., 2022). Although drug resistance is due to different causes and different pathways, the EMT mechanism has recently attracted more attention in its role in tumor chemoresistance.

According to the literature, cancer chemoresistance is becoming more widespread, and more research are focused on the subject recently. EMT contributes to drug resistance in different cancer types, especially pancreatic, bladder, and breast cancer (Du & Shim, 2016). Instead of taking a role alone in cancer cells, EMT causes drug resistance by affecting other pathways (Georgakopoulos-Soares et al., 2020). Pathways such as WNT and Hedgehog play a role in drug resistance by activating the EMT pathway. The WNT pathway is more effective in EMT activation and most research pathways with EMT. According to the literature, overexpression of WNT3 promoted EMT by activating the WNT/β-Catenin signaling pathway (Qi et al., 2014). Thereupon, overexpression of WNT3 rendered human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) overexpressing breast cancer cells under trastuzumab treatment (Wu et al., 2012). Besides different pathways, EMT TFs promote drug resistance in cancer cells. TWIST upregulation was shown to increase the expression of multi-drug resistant protein 1 (MDR1) in colorectal cancer cells by activating EMT, which in turn causes oxaliplatin resistance (Deng J. et al. 2016). Various EMT TFs, including SNAIL, SLUG, and ZEB, have also been linked to drug resistance (Du & Shim, 2016). When EMT is active, the cells exhibit similar properties to cancer stem cells, such as increased drug efflux pumps and anti-apoptotic effects, together contributing to chemoresistance (Hermawan et al., 2015).

In conclusion, EMT is established as an important cancer cell phenotype that leads to chemoresistance. Inhibitors of this cellular process will be effective "partners" for chemotherapy or other targeted therapy drugs, through which the clinical outcomes of current cancer therapeutics can significantly improve (Laham-Karam et al., 2020).

1.8 Aim of the Study

This study aimed to understand the effect of JQ1 (a small molecule BRD4 inhibitor) chemoresistance on the malignancy of meningioma cells. Moreover, we focus on discovering and targeting significant pathways responsible for acquired JQ1 chemoresistance. Accordingly, two different meningioma cell lines, IOMM Lee and AC599 are used in this study. Both IOMM Lee and AC599 cell lines are exposed to increasing doses of JQ1 drug to make them acquire resistance to that drug. RNA-seq data obtained from these cell lines before and after JQ1 treatments revealed that the EMT pathway and STAT family transcription factors plays role in JQ1 chemoresistance in meningioma. To further investigate the role of the EMT pathway, we studied changes in EMT markers in both resistant and non-resistant IOMM Lee and AC599 meningioma cell lines. We identified the STAT family as a critical player in JQ1 chemoresistance therefore we tested whether STAT inhibitor, Stattic is a viable supplementary chemotherapy option for JQ1 chemoresistant meningioma treatment.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Cell Line Characteristics

IOMM Lee, CH157 MN, and AC599 (Ben-Men1 599) cell lines are three different meningioma cell lines. While IOMM Lee and CH157 MN cells are malignant meningioma cell lines, AC599 cell line is benign meningioma cell line. IOMM Lee is non-*NF2* deficient, whereas CH157 MN and AC 599 carry *NF2* mutation. IOMM Lee JQ1 Resistant (JR), CH157 MN JQ1 Resistant (JR), and AC599 JQ1 Resistant (JR) were obtained after a long time of JQ1 drug exposure where JQ1 was gradually added to the cell lines to make them resistant to JQ1 drug. This procedure occurred in the School of Medicine, Yale University. In our study, we used IOMM Lee and AC599 cell lines for comparison of malignancy and *NF2* mutation.

2.2 Cell Culture

IOMM Lee, CH157 MN, and AC599 (Ben-Men1 599) are immortalized primary meningioma cell lines. Non-resistant and Resistant IOMM Lee, CH157 MN, and AC599 were ensured from Yale University. IOMM Lee, CH157 MN, and AC599 were grown in High Glucose Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (BI- 01-052-1A) with 10% FBS, and 1% Penicilline-Streotomycin solution (growth medium). Cells were grown in a humidified incubator with 5% CO2 at 37 °C. For maintenance of JQ1 Resistant IOMM Lee, CH157 MN and AC599, (+)- JQ1 (Cayman 11187) which is a bromodomain inhibitor, was dissolved in DMSO and 10μM stock solution was prepared for cells. For IOMM Lee 3:1000, CH157 MN

2,5:1000, and AC 599 1,2:1000 JQ1 stock solution was added to the growth medium for each cell to maintain them in a chemoresistant state.

2.3 Wound Healing Assay

0.2 mg Mitomycin C was dissolved in 1 ml PBS. 500 μ L Mitomycin C ((Serva) was added into a 9.5 ml medium, the final concentration should be 10 μ g/ml. 0.05x106 cells were seeded into the 24-well plate containing 500 μ L of growth medium. When cells reached 80% confluency, the medium was removed and washed with the DMEM (Basal medium). Cells were treated with (0.2 mg/ml) Mitomycin C for 2 hours. Cells were then washed with basal medium, thoroughly as it might reduce viability afterward. Cells were incubated with normal DMEM for 1 hour. 200 μ L pipette tip was used for making a scratch. After wounding, the cells were treated with JQ1, Stattic, and DMSO (control).

2.4 Cell Cycle Assay

Cells were cultured in 100 mm cell culture dishes, followed by Mitomycin C (Serva) (600 μ L) for 2h, JQ1, and Stattic treatment (IC50 values) for 24h. After the incubation period, 1x10^6 cells were harvested and washed with basal DMEM and 500 μ L cold Dulbecco's PBS (DPBS), complete the volume to 4 mL with 70% ethanol, and incubated at – 20 °C for 30 min. Next, the cells were washed with cold DPBS and suspended in propidium iodide (PI) staining solution (40 μ g/mL PI and 40 μ g/mL RNase A in PBS). This suspension was transferred to Flow cytometer tubes, and flow cytometry was used to analyze the cell cycle.

2.5 Immunofluorescence Assay

AC599 and JQ1 Resistant AC599 JR cells were grown on coverslips. Then, the cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, permeabilized in 0.1% Triton X-100 and blocked in 1% BSA. The expression of N-cadherin, E-cadherin, Beta-catenin, and Vimentin was detected using primary antibodies against N-cadherin (#ab18203, Abcam), E- cadherin (#sc-8426, Santa Cruz), Beta-catenin (#ab32572, Abcam) and Vimentin (#sc6260, Santa-Cruz) respectively at 4°C overnight. After the incubation, the coverslips were washed and further incubated with secondary Goat Anti-Mouse IgG H&L (Alexa Fluor® 488) (#Ab150113, Abcam) and Goat Anti-Rabbit IgG H&L (Alexa Fluor® 594) (#Ab150080, Abcam) respectively for 1 hour at room temperature in the dark. Nuclei were stained using Antifade Mounting Media with DAPI (Vectashield). Immunofluorescent images were obtained using a fluorescent microscope in 40x and 60x magnified objectives.

2.6 RNA Isolation

Cells were briefly washed with PBS to get rid of dead cells. $500 \ \mu L$ TRIzol per 6 well plates was added and the standard procedure was followed according to the provider's description (Ambion, 15596-026). RNA was quantified via a spectrometer. (BioDrop) RNA integrity was checked by inspecting two intact and distinct RNA bands; 18S and 28S on 1% agarose gel.

2.7 cDNA Synthesis

cDNA was synthesized from 0.7- 1 μ g RNA template using BioRad iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit per manufacturer's protocol (1708890). 1000 ng RNA was used as a template. 4 μ l 5x iScript Reaction Mix and 1 μ l Reverse Transcriptase was added to 1000 ng RNA. The total volume was completed to 20 μ l with nuclease-free water. Samples were incubated with the complete reaction mix in a thermal cycler using the following PCR protocol: Priming: 5 min at 25°C, Reverse transcription: 20 min at 46°C, RT inactivation: 1 min at 95°C, Optional step: Hold at 4°C.

2.8 Gene Expression Analysis with RT-PCR

Primers for candidate genes were designed using NCBI Primer Blast and UCSC In-Silico PCR tool, validated by UCSC InSilico PCR (Appendices Table A.1.). To determine the optimal conditions for primers, a gradient PCR from 62C-55C was run for each primer pair.

Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR) was carried out in a total volume of 10 μ l containing 0.5 μ l of cDNA (1:10 dilution), 5 μ l of Advanced Universal I SYBR Green Supermix (1725271), 0.6 μ M forward and reverse primers (Appendices Table A.1.) and molecular biology grade water. β -actin was used as an internal control for all reactions. The reactions were performed in the Rotor-Gene Q 6000 System (Qiagen, Germany). Data collected was analyzed using a Rotor-Gene Q Series Software and Microsoft Excel. The delta-delta Ct method was conducted by normalizing data to β -Actin expression and calculating fold change relative to DMSO (control) samples.

2.9 Statistical Analysis

All experiments were carried out with at least two or three different biological replicates; each had at least three technical replicates. GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software Inc., USA) was used for data analysis. Two-way ANOVA was carried out to determine significance. p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

3.1 Morphological Changes Based on JQ1 Drug Resistance

Cancer cells are exposed to chemotherapy and radiotherapy during treatment. It has been observed that most cancer cells develop resistance to drugs following chemotherapy. Drug resistance is affected by altered biochemical pathways, morphology, or the behavior of cells. JQ1, one of the novel cancer drugs examined for use in cancer treatment, is a small-molecule bromodomain inhibitor. Research has been carried out to see the effects of JQ1 in the treatment of meningioma.

In this study, IOMM Lee and CH157 cell lines were used as malignant meningioma cells, and the AC599 cell line was used as benign meningioma cells. These cells were obtained from Yale University School of Medicine, where they were made JQ1 resistant. To find out the cells' resistance levels to JQ1, the IC50s of the cell lines were determined by dose response curve, and non-resistant IOMM Lee, CH157, and AC599 cell lines were made resistant to JQ1 by exposure to increasing doses of the drug over the course of three months (Appendices A.7). The IC50 values of JQ1 for each cell lines were found by our collaborators at Yale University School of Medicine Laboratory and confirmed in our lab as well.



Figure 3.1. IOMM Lee- IOMM Lee JR, CH157- CH157JR, AC599- AC599 JR bright field image for a morphological change. JR stands for JQ1 Resistant.

BenMen1 AC599 is a benign low-grade *NF2* meningioma, CH157MN and IOMM Lee are higher-grade malignant, and *NF2* and non*NF2* meningioma respectively. When we acquired meningioma cell lines, first we aimed to identify their morphological differences if there are any. Non-resistant IOMM Lee, CH157, and AC599 cell lines were compared with JQ1 Resistant IOMM Lee JR, CH157 JR, and AC599 JR cells under a bright field. During this process, it was observed that there were morphological differences between non-resistant and JQ1 Resistant cells (Figure 3.1). Whereas non-resistant cell lines were observed to be small, roundish, and short, JQ1 Resistant cells appeared to be larger, filamentous, and elongated (Figure 3.1).

When the morphology of the cells was compared with each other primary changes were seen between non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee and AC599 meningioma cell lines morphology. Besides morphology, IOMM Lee is a malignant meningioma, and AC599 is a benign meningioma cell line. Moreover, while AC599 is *NF2* mutant cell, IOMM Lee meningioma cell lines are non-*NF2* mutant cells. We used IOMM Lee and AC599 meningioma cell lines during our research to understand how malignancy and *NF2* mutant differences affect cell morphology. Based on this

observation, it was concluded that JQ1 Resistant cells might have activated the EMT pathway to gain more mesenchymal properties. To check whether our hypothesis has any biological relevance, the gene expression levels of EMT markers and genes affecting EMT were examined by analyzing RNA-seq data provided by our colleagues at Yale University (Figures 3.2 and 3.3) and we performed Ingenuity Pathway Analysis using the sequence data to understand upstream and downstream regulatory pathways in our data set. Our analysis showed that the STAT family proteins were among the genes significantly regulated (Appendices A.6). It is well established in the scientific literature that the STAT family affects the EMT pathway, apoptosis, and cell proliferation (Verhoeven et al., 2020). We then further investigate the RNAseq data to monitor the changes in EMT genes during the acquisition of JQ1 resistance.

3.2 JQ1 Treatment Effect on Different Genes and Transcription Factors

Meningioma cell lines that were made resistant to the JQ1 drug. JQ1 Resistant meningioma cells and non-resistant meningioma cells were exposed to DMSO as a control group and JQ1 as a treatment group for 3 hours. Those cells were later harvested for RNA isolation and these RNA samples were sent to the Yale Genome Center for RNA sequencing and ultimately sequence analysis is performed. IOMM Lee and AC599 meningioma cell lines were compared in terms of resistant and non-resistant cells under DMSO treatment, which is the control group of gene expressions, and JQ1 treatment, which is the drug treatment group to see the JQ1 drug effect on resistant and non-resistant cells gene expressions, according to the data obtained from the Yale Bioinformatics team. (Figures 3.2 and 3.3).

Then we analyze these RNA-Seq data specifically for EMT markers to better understand the morphological changes observed in vitro upon chemoresistance. When the IOMM Lee and AC599 cell lines' gene expression changes in DMSO control group comparisons were analyzed, it was understood that when AC599 meningioma cell lines become resistant to JQ1, their mesenchymal markers were upregulated whereas the mesenchymal markers of the cells in IOMM Lee meningioma cell lines were downregulated. CDH1, one of the epithelial markers, enables the cells to bind to each other by cell-cell adhesion bonds. When there is a decrease in the expression of this gene or if there is a loss of function, the proliferation, invasion, or metastasis properties of genes increase (Debnath et al., 2021). During this process, *CDH1* genes together with other epithelial markers are downregulated, and mesenchymal markers such as CDH2, VIM, CTNNB1, and TWIST are upregulated (Debnath et al., 2021). When mesenchymal markers are upregulated, the cell-cell interaction between the cells decreases while the metastatic properties of the cells increase. In our study, when the RNA-seq comparisons of DMSO control groups of AC599 and IOMM Lee meningioma cell lines were analyzed. It was observed that CDH1 was downregulated whereas VIM and CDH2 were upregulated in AC599 compared to IOMM Lee (Figures 3.2 and 3.3). When resistant and non-resistant AC599 cell lines following JQ1 treatment were compared, it was particularly observed that CDH2 expression tripled in the resistant cell line compared to the non-resistant counterpart (Figure 3.3). When the DMSO control group and JQ1 treated group of IOMM Lee meningioma cell lines were compared the expression of TWIST upregulated in resistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell lines after JQ1 exposure.

IOMM Lee DMSO R vs NR



Figure 3.2. Resistant and Non-resistant IOMM Lee were treated with DMSO and JQ1.

RNA sequencing data were analyzed for JQ Resistant (R) and Non-resistant (NR) cell lines and upregulated and downregulated genes were shown in the graph and table. RNA sequencing data were analyzed for JQ Resistant (R) and Non-resistant (NR) cell lines Statistical values of RNA-Seq were shown (Appendices A1).

LogFoldChange for EMT markers in this comparison is shown. ≤ 0 downregulated; ≥ 0 upregulated. * shows significant p-values.



AC599 DMSO R vs NR

Figure 3.3. Resistant and Non-resistant AC599 were treated with DMSO and JQ1.

RNA sequencing data were analyzed for JQ Resistant (R) and Non-resistant (NR) cell lines and upregulated and downregulated genes were shown in the graph and table. RNA sequencing data were analyzed for JQ Resistant (R) and Non-resistant (NR) cell lines Statistical values of RNA-Seq were shown (Appendices A1). LogFoldChange for EMT markers in this comparison is shown. ≤ 0 downregulated; ≥ 0 upregulated . * shows significant p-values.

3.3 EMT Markers Expression and Pathway Analysis Based on RNA-Seq Data

RNA-Seq data provides the whole transcriptome of the cell that shows every gene expression change. After initial bioinformatics data construction, RNA-Seq data can be examined in different ways. We applied Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) (QIAGEN©) which allow us to predict upstream and downstream changes for the given transcriptomic profile gene regulations based on JQ1 treatment and resistance (Appendices A.2, A.3, A.4, and A.5).

Based on the Ingenuity Pathway prediction of our RNAseq data, *CTNNB1* is predicted to be increased in non-resistant and JQ1 Resistant AC599 cell lines. Ingenuity prediction shows that *CDH1* expression, on the other hand, decreases at non-resistant and JQ1 Resistant AC599 cell lines. The interaction between *CDH1* and *CTNNB1* was well known as they have an association at adherens junctions. This decrease affects the *CTNNB1* amount in the cytoplasm. When *CDH1* is expressed in a cell, they connect with *CTNNB1* in adherens junctions. Following EMT pathway activation, *CDH1* expression starts to decrease in the cell which then transitions to mesenchymal cell fate. After *CTNNB1* becomes free in cytoplasm WNT ligands bind to CTNNB1 and translocate it to the nucleus. Within the nucleus, *CTNNB1* regulates *TWIST* gene expression. In Appendices A2, an increase in *TWIST* was seen when *CTNNB1* translocate to the nucleus. *TWIST* is a transcription factor that plays role in the mesenchymal differentiation of cells. Based on this data, the mesenchymal markers increase in JQ1 treated resistant AC599 cell line (Appendices A.5). In IPA

the system shows some pathway predictions based on bioinformatics data, such as RNA-Seq and next-generation sequencing. IPA results, including both resistant and non-resistant IOMM Lee and AC599 meningioma cell lines, showed gene expression predictions such as a decrease in *TWIST* expression (Appendices A.3, A.4 and A.5). In IOMM Lee cell lines, with JQ1 and DMSO treated ones, IPA prediction shows an increase in *CDH1* expression. Based on the *CDH1* increase in IOMM Lee meningioma cell lines the expression of *CTNNB1* decreased. By implication of *CTNNB1* decrease, the expression of mesenchymal differentiation marker *TWIST* expression was decreased. Decreasement of these two genes inhibits mesenchymal differentiation depending on Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (Appendices A.4, A.5). We are predicting to see EMT pathway activation and an increase in EMT properties in non-resistant and resistant AC599 meningioma cell lines.

RNAseq data analysis for each cell line in comparison to their resistant counterparts (ie. AC599 vs AC599 JR, CH157 vs. CH157 JR, and IOMM Lee vs. IOMM Lee JR) by using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis Program (IPA) were investigated (Appendices A.2, A.3, A.4, A.5 and A.6). This bioinformatic research also highlights STAT family transcription factors as being the primary regulators of these specific signaling pathways, in particular STAT1 and STAT3 (Appendices A.6). The JAK/STAT system is a key pathway that regulates cellular functions like immunity, apoptosis, cell cycle, and division that are crucial for both healthy and cancerous cells. In contrast to their parental, healthy cells, resistant meningioma cells have a distinct regulation of STAT members, according to our RNAseq data. Particularly, the STAT RNA levels of the BenMen1 AC599 cell line appear to be significantly impacted. We show that STAT1 downregulation seems to play a significant role in benign AC599 meningioma cell line as it acquires JQ1 chemoresistance. RNAseq data showed that STAT family members STAT1 and STAT2 are significantly downregulated as benign meningioma cell line AC599 acquires JQ1 resistance (AC599 JR) (Appendices A.9).

Next, we hypothesized that *STAT3* overexpression would be an indirect critical component to target in this situation because Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA)

revealed that upon *STAT1* downregulation, its downstream target *STAT3* was more likely to be upregulated (Appendices A.6). Numerous research groups have examined the functions of *STAT1* and *STAT3*, which are typically regarded as tumor suppressor and oncogene, respectively, in cancer. The relative abundance of *STAT1:STAT3* appears to be the key, according to these studies; however, our knowledge of STAT's role in cancer is still limited (Appendices A.6). Based on our data and current literature, we decided to use Stattic as a STAT3 inhibitor to understand STAT family impact on our meningioma cells with particular focus on EMT pathway.

In addition to focusing on top EMT markers and TFs, other pathways interaction that also play role in EMT were investigated with Ingenuity Pathway Analysis. After checking EMT interactions with other pathways, one of the top predictions shows that *STAT3* expression affects *TWIST* expression. In the AC599 cell line upon JQ1 treatment, *STAT3* causes an increase in *TWIST* expression. In IOMM Lee cell lines; however, in both DMSO control and JQ1 treatment, a decrease in *STAT3* expression results in a decrease in *TWIST* expression as well. *TWIST* plays a big role in mesenchymal differentiation. The expression changes of *TWIST* affect EMT pathway activation and cells epithelial to mesenchymal transition. Upon these IPA data analysis results, we decided to further investigate the role of *STAT3* on the EMT pathway in the meningioma cell lines, especially its regulatory role on *TWIST* expression. We used a specific STAT3 inhibitor, Stattic, for this experiment. IC50 value of Stattic dose was determined by dose-response assay for each meningioma cell line (Appendices A.8).

3.4 Drug Treatment Affects on Migration

When malignant and benign meningioma cell lines were compared in terms of morphological changes, the morphological changes seen after activation of the EMT pathway are predominantly seen in cell lines with JQ1 resistance (AC559 JR) of the benign cell line AC599 (Figure 3.4). It is well known in the literature that there is a relationship between drug resistance and EMT. In cancer cells gaining drug resistance, EMT causes drug resistance by affecting other pathways instead of playing a role alone. It is known that EMT has an effect on metastasis along with its effect on drug resistance. After the cells acquire drug resistance, they also undergo morphological changes (Figure 3.1). On top of that, after proving that there was no change in proliferation in the cells, the increase and change in the metastatic properties of the cells were examined by in vitro wound healing assay. The scratch wound area was monitored by microscopy daily for 24 hours (Figures 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, and 3.7). Images were taken at 0h,7h, and 24h and analyzed with ImageJ. After 24 hours, the proportion of migrated cells increased in the AC599 DMSO-only controls. Wound healing assay images showed that JQ1 and Static treatment in AC599 inhibit cell proliferation and migration compared to the AC599 DMSO-only control group. These data are consistent with the literature (Bid et al., 2016, Guo et al., 2022).

It is well known that acquired chemoresistance can affect DNA, biochemical pathways, morphology, or behavior of the cells. One such well-known mechanism is epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) which typically results in the transition of epithelial (E) cells to cells with a mesenchymal (M) phenotype, defined by prototypical markers, such as E-cadherin and Vimentin. When cells gained mesenchymal properties, they are more likely to migrate because they lose cell-cell contact which migratory potential of the cells. To better understand the role of EMT on meningioma cell migration we set up a wound healing assay to monitor migration in real-time. Furthermore, our RNAseq data already showed the importance of the *STAT* regulatory network in chemoresistance and it is well-known in the literature STAT family affects the EMT pathway, apoptosis, and cell proliferation. To test whether Stattic (*STAT* inhibitor) treatment affects the cell migration ability compared to the untreated control, we set up three groups (no treatment, JQ1 treatment, and Stattic treatment) and monitor the migration behavior in real time.

0h 7h 24h AC599 DMSO Treated AC599 JQI Treated AC599 Stattic Treated

	Scratch Area Change Based on Treatment Time				
	(Scratched Area %)				
	AC599		Percent Change (Area		
	DMSO Control	JQ1 Treatment	JQ1 Treatment- DMSO Control)		
0 Hour	45.8	49.2	3.4		
7 Hour	35.0	50.3	15.2		
24 Hour	22.1	48.3	26.3		
	AC499		Percent Change (Area		
			Stattic Treatment-		
	DMSO Control	Stattic Treatment	DMSO Control)		
0 Hour	45.8	40.0	-5.8		
7 Hour	35.0	40.4	5.4		
24 Hour	22.1	41.1	19.0		

Figure 3.4. Migration trace of AC599 after 24 hours DMSO control, JQ1, and Stattic treatment was analyzed with a fluorescent microscope and microscope chamber.

Scratch was done with a 200 μ L pipet tip, then cells were washed with basal DMEM. IC50 value JQ1 and Static were added to cells. Images were taken at 0 hours, 7 hours, and 24 hours after scratch (A). The percentage change of the scratched area was shown in table (B).



A.

	Scratch Area Change Based on Treatment Time				
	(Scratched Area %)				
	A				
	DMSO Control	JQ1 Treatment	Percent Change		
0 Hour	48.8	58.5	9.7		
7 Hour	33.5	44.4	10.9		
24 Hour	5.9	8.9	3.0		
	Α				
	DMSO Control	Stattic Treatment	Percent Change		
0 Hour	48.8	58.6	9.8		
7 Hour	33.5	44.2	10.7		
24 Hour	5.9	44.1	38.2		

Figure 3.5. Migration trace of AC599 JR after 24 hours DMSO control, JQ1, and Stattic treatment was analyzed with a fluorescent microscope and microscope chamber.

Scratch was done with a 200 μ L pipet tip, then cells were washed with basal DMEM. IC50 value JQ1 and Stattic were added to cells. Images were taken at 0 hours, 7 hours, and 24 hours after scratch (A). The percentage change of the scratched area was shown in table (B).

STAT3 interacts with some EMT biomarkers and TFs, leading to the activation of the EMT pathway. Stattic is a drug that inhibits the interaction of STAT3 with other genes by inhibiting STAT3 phosphorylation. On top of that, with the inhibition of STAT3 by Stattic treatment, the migration of cells will also decrease.

The Non-resistant AC599 cell line does not appear to close the scratch wound and does not move. This immobility is seen not only in Stattic treatment but also in JQ1 treatment. In conclusion, Stattic and JQ1 flow did not affect the migration of cells in AC599 meningioma cell line that was JQ1 resistant (Figures 3.4 and 3.5). As it is well known in the literature, EMT is active in units with drug resistance and this activation is the right regulator with drug resistance (Singh & Settleman, 2010).

As malignancy increases and cells gain resistance to drugs in meningioma, the metastatic properties of the cells increase. However, there is a difference in migration rates between non-resistant and resistant cells. No matter how malignant or benign the cells are, they seem more prone to metastasis once they have become resistant to the drug. As seen in the wound healing assay, cells after 24 hours of DMSO control IOMM Lee JR and AC599 JR close the wound completely (Figures 3.5 and 3.7) In addition, when non-resistant IOMM Lee and AC599 meningioma cell lines were compared, non-resistant AC599 meningioma cell line closed part of the wound at the end of 24 hours. The non-resistant IOMM Lee barely moved and closed the wound. However, when JQ1 treatment was applied to non-resistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line, it seems likely that JQ1 treatment induced the metastatic properties of the cells (Figure 3.6).





	Scratch Area Change Based on Treatment Time				
	(Scratched Area %)				
	IOM				
	DMSO Control	JQ1 Treatment	Percent Change		
0 Hour	42.7	41.4	-1.3		
7 Hour	37.3	38.3	1.0		
24 Hour	24.0	35.5	11.4		
	IOM				
	DMSO Control	Stattic Treatment	Percent Change		
0 Hour	42.7	31.8	-10.9		
7 Hour	37.3	31.8	-5.5		
24 Hour	24.0	31.9	7.9		

Figure 3.6. Migration trace of IOMM Lee after 24 hours DMSO control, JQ1, and Stattic treatment was analyzed with a fluorescent microscope and microscope chamber.

Scratch was done with a 200 μ L pipet tip, then cells were washed with basal DMEM. IC50 value JQ1 and Stattic were added to cells. Images were taken at 0 hours, 7 hours, and 24 hours after scratch (A). The percentage change of the scratched area was shown in table (B).



7h

```
24h
```



	Scratch Area Change Based on Treatment Time				
	(Scratched Area %)				
	IOMM Lee JR		Percent Change (Area		
	DMSO Control	JQ1 Treatment	JQ1 Treatment- DMSO Control)		
0 Hour	24.2	22.9	-1.2		
7 Hour	22.3	20.2	-2.1		
24 Hour	24.0	16.9	-7.2		
	IOMM Lee JR		Percent Change (Area		
	DMSO Control	Stattic Treatment	Stattic Treatment- DMSO Control)		
0 Hour	24.2	17.0	-7.2		
7 Hour	22.3	15.4	-6.9		
24 Hour	24.0	13.3	-10.8		

Figure 3.7. Migration trace of IOMM Lee JR after 24 hours DMSO control, JQ1, and Stattic treatment was analyzed with a fluorescent microscope and microscope chamber.

Scratch was done with a 200 μ L pipet tip, then cells were washed with basal DMEM. IC50 value JQ1 and Stattic were added to cells. Images were taken at 0 hours, 7 hours, and 24 hours after scratch (A). The percentage change of the scratched area was shown in table (B).

The tumoral characteristics of malignant cells are also increasing with drug resistance. Resistance to higher doses of drugs, more persistent enlargement, and metastatic features are more prone to more extensive metastasis. After 24 hours of DMSO, JQ1, and Stattic treatments were placed on IOMM Lee and IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell lines. In IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line, the wounds approached nearly complete enlargement. After Stattic treatment in non-resistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line, the wound is not closed by cells. IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line has closed the wound partially after Static treatment. Based on this data JQ1 and Stattic treatments have effects on cell migration and proliferation.

Stattic and JQ1 treatments have been shown to affect cell cycle progression in different cancer cell lines. As mentioned previously, we aimed to see the impact of Stattic and JQ1 treatment on cell cycle progression, apoptosis, and EMT. Our EMT and migration experiments were mainly based on the motion movement of the cells. Therefore, we monitored the cell cycle progression upon treatment of the JQ1 and Stattic on parental and resistant cell lines (IOMM Lee, AC599 and IOMM Lee JR, and AC599 JR).

3.5 Effects of Stattic and JQ1 Treatment on Cell Cycle Progression

Whether the expression changes in EMT markers observed in the analysis of RNAseq had any effect on the cells' migration characteristics had to be analyzed. Therefore, a Wound Healing assay was performed to examine the cellular migration characteristics of meningioma cell lines. Whether this wound healing data solely resulted from cellular migration we then checked the cell cycle status of these cells before and after drug treatments.



Figure 3.8. Cells were treated with Mitomycin for 2 hours to achieve cell cycle synchronization before the wound healing assay.

Then washed with basal medium (DMEM). Cells were treated with DMSO, JQ1, and Stattic for 24 hours. Cells were collected and stained with PI after fixation. BD Accuri C6 Software (BD Biosciences, USA) was used to generate cell cycle distribution histograms. Cell cycle phase ratios are analyzed with BD Accuri C6 Software.

It cannot be stated that movement is just due to cellular migration movement if JQ1 and Stattic treatments increase cell proliferation. To synchronize cells in the cell cycle for wound healing assay, we first used Mitomycin C, which is commonly used in cell cycle synchronization and cancer treatment (Figure 3.8). The reason why Mitomycin treatment was applied only before JQ1 and Stattic treatment is that the long-term treatment with Mitomycin has a toxic effect on cells. Cells were treated with Mitomycin C for two hours for cell cycle synchronization so that their migration could be observed. Afterward, either Stattic or JQ1 drug treatments were applied to cells at their corresponding IC50 value for 24 hours. To understand the effects of these drugs on the cell cycles of IOMM Lee, IOMM Lee JR, AC599, and AC599 JR meningioma cell lines, the cell cycle distributions were examined using flow cytometry after they were stained with propidium iodide (PI). BD Accuri C6 Software (BD Biosciences, USA) was used to generate cell cycle distribution

histograms, and the appropriate gate was applied to identify cell types and exclude duplicate cells (Figure 3.9).

While the results of Mitomycin C treatment were expected to be synchronized, the ratios of G1/M/G2 stages in Mitomycin C treated non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee and AC599 meningioma cell line turned out to be the same as the G1/M/G2 ratios of control non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee and AC599 versions (Figure 3.10 B and C). In other words, Mitomycin C treatment did not show the expected synchronization effect on meningioma cells used in the experiments. Consequently, the cells were prepared once more without receiving Mitomycin treatment and were subjected to only JQ1 and Stattic treatments.



Figure 3.9. The effects of Stattic and JQ1 treatment on cell cycle in non-resistant and JQ1 Resistant meningioma cells were detected by flow cytometry assay.

In the scientific literature, it is asserted that Stattic and JQ1 treatments affect cell cycle progression in different cancer cell lines.

This experiment aimed to see/analyze the effect of Stattic and JQ1 treatment on cell cycle progression, migration, and EMT. EMT and migration assay are mainly based on the metastasis movement of cells. Therefore, the cell cycle progression effect of drugs on non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee and AC599 cell lines was observed (Figure 3.10). Our cell cycle data showed that JQ1 and Stattic drug treatments did not increase proliferation in the meningioma cell lines tested.

However, according to the data obtained after a 24 hours treatment with Stattic and JQ1, no significant changes were observed in cell cycle progression at all cell cycle phases in non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee cell lines. Their G0/G1, S, and G2/M phase ratios remained the same. However, an increase was observed in the G1 phase of the resistant and non-resistant cells that received JQ1 treatment (Figure 3.10 B), which indicates that cells generally change position by movement, not by division, during migration assay. Compared to malignant cells (IOMM Lee), benign AC599 meningioma cell lines were arrested at the end of G0/G1 and the initial phases of S (Figure 3.10 C).

However, the G2/M phase ratio decreased significantly. In AC599 JR meningioma cell line treated with Stattic and JQ1 treatment, when the control AC599 JR graph was examined, the G1 ratio was around 80%, while this ratio decreased to 70% after the treatment. However, since the G1 ratio of AC599 meningioma cell line was higher than that of IOMM Lee meningioma cell line, it is thought that most of the 80% of cells can move forward without dividing. Briefly, these treatments did not show a significant effect on the cell cycle progression of malignant cell line. However, they greatly influence the cell cycle progression of the benign cell line. Next, we aim to immunostain and perform western blotting with cell cycle and EMT markers before and after treatment to better understand how STAT inhibition affects the signaling pathways.







C.



Figure 3.10. Cell cycle progression of IOMM Lee, AC599, IOMM Lee JR, and AC599 JR after 24 hours Stattic and JQ1 treatment.

BD Accuri C6 Software was used for cell cycle progression (A). Graphs show the comparison of drug treatment (JQ1 or Stattic) and DMSO control cells cell cycle phase ratio (%) of IOMM Lee and IOMM Lee JR (B). Graphs show the comparison of drug treatment (JQ1 and Stattic) and DMSO control cells cell cycle phase ratio (%) of AC599 and AC599 JR (C). Cell cycle data are presented as bar graphs. Black column G1; Red column M; Green column G2.

3.6 EMT Marker Expression

CDH1, *N*-cadherin, and Vimentin are the markers that show the most changes and the activation of EMT. EMT, activated by decreased *CDH1* expression and increased *N*-cadherin expression, plays an important role in tumor development, growth, and metastasis. There is an important link between the classical WNT signaling pathway and EMT. It has been shown in the literature that the subcellular localization of β -Catenin is critical for the EMT mechanism (Rutkowski et. al. 2018).

Expressions of EMT markers were examined on the change in migration of cells in the 24 hours wound healing assay. After scratch and 24 hours drug treatment, cells were fixed with immunofluorescence assay and stained with EMT marker antibodies. In parallel with the wound healing assay, CDH1, N-cadherin, Vimentin, and β -Catenin protein translations were examined in the cells to understand what kind of expression change occurred in the migrating cells. DMSO, JQ1, and Stattictreated cells were harvested every 0 hours, 7 hours, and 24 hours. A small amount of β -Catenin and E-cadherin protein translations was seen in non-resistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line (Figure 3.11). β -catenin was also seen to be concentrated around the cell nucleus. After 7 and 24 hours, an increase in Vimentin and Ncadherin protein translations, on the other hand, do not appear to be significant (Figure 3.11 and Appendices A.10). Since Vimentin and N-cadherin are the main EMT markers, it was seen that the EMT pathway was activated at the end of 24 hours and the cells gain mesenchymal characteristics. However, an increase in mesenchymal markers is observed in cells close to the scratch part, not in every cell, and this is called partial EMT.



A.

Figure 3.11. IOMM Lee meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 μ l pipet tip, then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs.



Figure 3.11. IOMM Lee meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 μ l pipet tip, then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs.

Cells were collected after 0 hours, 7 hours, and 24 hours. After collection cells were fixed with paraformaldehyde. When the fixation period was finished, cells were stained with antibodies. A. Cells stained with N-cadherin and CDH1. Vectashield with DAPI was used to stain the nucleus. B. Cells stained with β -Catenin and Vimentin Vectashield with DAPI were used to stain the nucleus. Immunofluorescent images were obtained using a fluorescent microscope in 40x and 60x magnified objectives.



Figure 3.12. IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 μ l pipet tip, then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs.


Figure 3.12. IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 μ l pipet tip, then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs.

Cells were collected after 0 hours, 7 hours, and 24 hours. After collection cells were fixed with paraformaldehyde. When the fixation period was finished, cells were stained with antibodies. A. Cells stained with N-cadherin and CDH1. Vectashield with DAPI was used to stain the nucleus. B. Cells stained with β -Catenin and Vimentin Vectashield with DAPI were used to stain the nucleus. Immunofluorescent images were obtained using a fluorescent microscope in 40x and 60x magnified objectives.

When we looked at JQ1 Resistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line, it is seen that the cells express N-cadherin and CDH1 at 0 hours (Appendices A.11). However, another mesenchymal marker, Vimentin protein translation, is not seen at 0 hours in the immunofluorescence assay. After 7 hours, CDH1 protein translation is seen in both JQ1 and Stattic-treated IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell lines (Figure 3.12). However, after 24 hours, CDH1 expression decrease by 12.8% after JQ1 treatment. For 24 hours, N-cadherin is protein translations in both JQ1 and Stattic-treated cells but the expression decreases in Stattic treatment (Figure 3.12 and Appendices A.11). Vimentin, another mesenchymal marker, has an increased expression in this process (Appendices A.11). In IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line, β -Catenin protein translations at 0 hours is seen intensely around the cell nucleus. After 7 hours of JQ1 and Stattic treatment, expression of β -Catenin is seen both around and inside the cell nucleus (Figure 3.12). At the end of 24 hours, after both drug treatments, β -catenin expression is predominantly seen in the cell nucleus and increases by around 15%. According to the literature, non-phosphorylated β -Catenin enters the nucleus and increases the expression of TFs, which plays a role in cell metastasis and development (Rutkowski et al, 2018). As we know from the study, the cellular location of β -Catenin activates the EMT pathway. Thereupon, after drug resistance in IOMM Lee meningioma cell line, the WNT pathway may have been activated and may have induced the EMT mechanism.



Figure 3.13. AC599 meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 μ l pipet tip, then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs.



Figure 3.13. AC599 meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 μ l pipet tip, then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs.

Cells were collected after 0 hours, 7 hours, and 24 hours. After collection cells were fixed with paraformaldehyde. When the fixation period was finished, cells were stained with antibodies. A. Cells stained with N-cadherin and CDH1. Vectashield with DAPI was used to stain the nucleus. B. Cells stained with β -Catenin and Vimentin Vectashield with DAPI were used to stain the nucleus. Immunofluorescent images were obtained using a fluorescent microscope in 40x and 60x magnified objectives.

The metastasis characteristics of malignant and benign cancer cells are completely different. Because malignant cells are more aggressive, they are more prone to metastasis. Benign cells, on the other hand, have fewer metastatic properties. However, in meningioma, there is a group of benign meningioma cells that show metastatic properties. Our data showed that AC599 meningioma cell line migrated more in DMSO control during the wound healing assay, and after treatment with drugs, the migration rate decreased and there was almost no migration (Figure 3.4). Thereupon, EMT markers were examined with the immunofluorescence assay (Figure 3.13). When we compared the expressions of CDH1 and N-cadherin, we did not detect any CDH1 staining however some cells exhibit positive N-cadherin staining in JQ1 treated AC599 meningioma cell line (Figure 3.13 and Appendices A.12). This reveals the possibility of cells exhibiting partial EMT characteristics. Vimentin expression was not seen in the very first hours, in DMSO control (Figure 3.13). When the cells were treated with either JQ1 or Stattic drug, after 24 hours, there is almost a 30% increase in the protein translations of Vimentin (Figure 3.13). However, we did not see Vimentin protein translations in every cell suggesting that cellular heterogeneity exists within the cell lines tested. With the increase in Vimentin protein translations, there was an increase in β -Catenin expression which was mostly located in the cell cytoplasm in JQ1-treated AC599 meningioma cell line (Appendices A.12.B). At the end of 24 hours of Stattic treatment, the protein translations of β -Catenin in the cells decreased and it was almost undetectable (Figure 3.13). It was known that β -Catenin accumulated in the cytoplasm was targeted by the degradation complex upon which was phosphorylated and destroyed.

As seen after 7 hours of treatment, β -Catenin accumulated in the cell cytoplasm (Figure 3.13). As a result of this accumulation, it may have been destroyed because it could not pass into the cell nucleus (Figure 3.13). In conclusion, the WNT pathway might not be the only major pathway that controls the EMT pathway in AC599 meningioma cells.



Figure 3.14. AC599 JR meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 μ l pipet tip, then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs.

A.



Figure 3.14. AC599 JR meningioma cell line was scratched with 200 μ l pipet tip, then JQ1 and Stattic with IC50 value of drugs.

B.

Cells were collected after 0 hours, 7 hours, and 24 hours. After collection cells were fixed with paraformaldehyde. When the fixation period was finished, cells were stained with antibodies. A. Cells stained with N-cadherin and CDH1. Vectashield with DAPI was used to stain the nucleus. B. Cells stained with β -Catenin and Vimentin Vectashield with DAPI were used to stain the nucleus. Immunofluorescent images were obtained using a fluorescent microscope in 40x and 60x magnified objectives.

The AC599 JR meningioma cell line has longer, and thinner morphology than nonresistant AC599 meningioma cell line. An increase in mesenchymal biomarkers expression could be the reason for these changes in the morphology of the cell. While N-cadherin is a mesenchymal marker, its expression increases 43.5 times in AC599 JR meningioma cell line (Figure 3.14.A and Appendices A.13). The AC599 meningioma cell line gain mesenchymal properties the E-cadherin expression decreases. The protein translation of the E-cadherin (9.8%) is almost none in AC599 JR meningioma cell line. However, after 24 hours of JQ1 treatment in AC599 JR meningioma cell line decrease was seen in CDH1 protein level (Figure 3.14.A and Appendices A.13.B). When compares with the Stattic treatment the protein translation of CDH1 was not seen in the cells. This showed that Stattic treatment affects epithelial markers protein translation or even gene expression. The Ncadherin proteins were located in the cytoplasm of AC599 JR meningioma cell line (Figure 3.14.A). After JQ1 treatment the N-cadherin protein translation increased in AC599 JR meningioma cell line compared to Stattic treatment AC599 JR meningioma cell line (Appendices A.13). The adherent protein in the cytoplasm was changed to mesenchymal proteins in AC599 JR meningioma cell line. Vimentin expression is mostly seen in mesenchymal cells' cytoplasm. Similarly, we observed that in non-resistant AC599 meningioma cell line, Vimentin expression was higher compared to AC599 JR meningioma cell line based on our immunofluorescence assay (Figure 3.14.B and Appendices A.12 - A.13). Our RNA-Seq data analysis also confirms that the Vimentin expression increase 2 fold in AC599 JR cell line compared to non-resistant AC599 meningioma cell line (Figure 3.3). Also, there is

an increase in β –Catenin expression in AC599 JR meningioma cell line compared to the non-resistant AC599 meningioma cell line (Figure 3.3). Our imaging data showed that β –Catenin localized mostly within and/or around the nucleus (Figure 3.14). The subcellular localization of β –Catenin is crucial for its role as a transcription factor. When β –Catenin is localized in the nucleus it enhances EMT TFs transcription. This data shows that AC599 JR meningioma cell line have a higher potential to activate the EMT pathway regulated by β –Catenin (Figure 3.14). To sum up, JQ1 resistance in AC599 meningioma cell line induces mesenchymal properties and EMT markers expression. The benign AC599 meningioma cell line are capable of metastasis after gaining drug resistance as it induces activation of the EMT pathway.

3.7 EMT Transcription Factors Relative Gene Expressions

As known in the literature *CDH1*, *N*-cadherin and Vimentin are not the sole markers of the EMT pathway. Other biomarkers, pathways, or TFs contribute to the activation of the EMT pathway. After showing CDH1, N-cadherin and Vimentin protein expression changes with the immunofluorescence assay, we then decided to look at some EMT TFs expression differences with 7 hour JQ1 and Stattic treatment after wound healing assay.

Numerous cellular pathways are regulated as a result of changes in the expression of key transcription factors. Various such transcription factors were identified for their role in EMT activation. The most significant among these TFs are *SNAIL*, *SLUG*, *TWIST*, and β -catenin. In addition to being the most significant EMT inducer, *SNAIL* is also crucial for cell survival, immunological control, and stem cell biology (Wu & Zhou, 2010). The earliest and most significant transcriptional repressor of *CDH1* was revealed to be *SNAIL*. Additionally, *SNAIL*'s most fundamental function in the EMT process is to inhibit the *CDH1* gene expression (Martin et al., 2005).

To understand the EMT pathway mechanism in our cell assay groups, EMT TFs expressions were checked with qRT-PCR assay. SNAIL gene expression was significantly increased in AC599 JR cell line after 7 hours of JQ1 and Stattic drug treatment (Figure 3.15). When JQ1 and Stattic treatment of AC599 JR meningioma cell line is compared, there is a significant increase in SNAIL expression after JQ1 treatment. Although there is a significant difference between non-resistant AC599 JQ1 treated cells and AC599 JR JQ1 treated cells (Figure 3.15). While there is an increase in SNAIL expression in AC599 JR after JQ1 treatment, there is a significant decrease in non-resistant AC599 meningioma cell line after JQ1 treatment (Figure 3.15). In addition to this, there is not any significant difference in SNAIL expression in non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee cell line after JQ1 and Stattic treatment for 7 hours (Figure 3.15). If malignant (IOMM Lee) and benign (AC599) meningioma cell lines are compared, there is a significant increase in SNAIL expression after JQ1 treatment in AC599 JR cell line compared to IOMM Lee JR cell line. In the immunofluorescence assay, the expression of CDH1 was just seen in IOMM Lee JR cell lines after 7 hours of JQ1 and Stattic treatment. As known in the literature there is an interaction between CDH1 and SNAIL expression. It is known that SNAIL enlists chromatin modifying complexes targeted to the CDH1 promoter to inhibit CDH1 production during tumor development and EMT (Wang et al., 2013). Our immunofluorescence assay and RNA-Seq data showed that CDH1 expression decreases in non-resistant and resistant AC599 cell line (Figure 3.3 and Figure 3.13).



Figure 3.15. *SNAIL* which is an EMT TFs relative gene expression among meningioma cell line with different treatments was shown.

Non-resistant and JQ1 resistant AC599 and IOMM Lee cell lines were treated with DMSO (control), JQ1, and Stattic for 7 hours after wound healing assay. Qiagen Rotor-Gene Q Series Software was used for analysis. DMSO-treated cell line were used as a control. JQ1 and Stattic treated cell lines normalized based on DMSO treatment. Graphs were drawn with GraphPad Prism 9.4.1 Software. (Relative gene expression level showed in Log10).

Another important EMT TF is SLUG which plays an important role in regulating the EMT process, such that it decreases *CDH1* expression in the cells. This causes the adhesion bond between cells to decrease and the cells to gain mobility (Grzegrzolka et al., 2015). As a result, the EMT pathway becomes active. When *SLUG* expression is compared after 7 hours of JQ1 and Stattic treatment, there is a significant increase in AC599 JR JQ1 treated cell line. 7 hour JQ1 treated AC599 JR cell line compared to the AC599 cell line there is a significant increase in *SLUG* expression after JQ1 treatment (Figure 3.16). JQ1 affects EMT pathway activation because when AC599

JR meningioma cell line both JQ1 and Stattic drug treatment were compared to *SLUG* expression significantly increase after JQ1 treatment in a resistant cell line (Figure 3.16). Based on previous experiments, AC599 JR meningioma cell lines' metastatic properties were higher than IOMM Lee JR cell lines. We could therefore assume that JQ1 resistant benign meningioma cell lines have a higher potential of activating the EMT pathway. In qRT-PCR analysis, it shows that the expression of *SLUG* increased in AC599 JR cell line compared to IOMM Lee JR cell line after JQ1 treatment. Significant morphological changes were seen in AC599 JR cell line (Figure 3.1). EMT pathway activation is higher in the AC599 JR cell line in comparison to non-resistant AC599, as well as resistant and non-resistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line.



Figure 3.16. *SLUG* which is an EMT TFs relative gene expression among meningioma cell line with different treatments was shown.

Non-resistant and JQ1 resistant AC599 and IOMM Lee cell lines were treated with DMSO (control), JQ1, and Stattic for 7 hours after wound healing assay. Qiagen Rotor-Gene Q Series Software was used for analysis. DMSO treated cell line were used as a control. JQ1 and Stattic treated cell lines normalized based on DMSO treatment. Graphs were drawn with GraphPad Prism 9.4.1 Software. (Relative gene expression level showed in Log10).

As known in the literature *SNAIL*, *SLUG*, and *TWIST* are EMT regulators, as evidenced by their reduction of *CDH1* and other epithelial indicators and cell adhesion (H. Wang et al., 2019). *SNAIL* and *SLUG* expressions were significantly increased in 7 hours JQ1 treated AC599 JR (Figures 3.15 and 3.16). Instead of *SNAIL*

and SLUG, there is a significant increase in TWIST expression in 7 hours JQ1 treated AC599 cell line (Figure 3.17). When non-resistant AC599 treated with JQ1 is compared to resistant AC599 JQ1 treated cell line, there is a significant decrease in TWIST expression. When JQ1 treated benign (AC599) and malignant (IOMM Lee) meningioma cell lines were compared, there is an increase in TWIST expression in JQ1 resistant benign meningioma cell line, AC599 JR (Figure 3.17). There is a significant increase in TWIST in JQ1 treated AC599 JR cell line compared to Stattictreated AC599 JR cell line. Furthermore, our Ingenuity Pathway Analysis suggests that STAT3 and TWIST interact in mesenchymal transition. While STAT3 expression decreases, TWIST expression should also decrease based on Ingenuity predictions. When STAT3 expression is inhibited with Stattic treatment, TWIST expression decreases significantly in 7 hour Stattic treated AC599 JR cell line (Figure 3.17). Also, there is a non-significant decrease in Stattic treated AC599 cell line compared to JQ1 treated AC599 cell lines. On the other hand, there are not any significant changes in TWIST expression in non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee cell lines after both JQ1 and Stattic treatment (Figure 3.17).



Figure 3.17. *TWIST* which is an EMT TFs relative gene expression among meningioma cell line with different treatments was shown.

Non-resistant and JQ1 resistant AC599 and IOMM Lee cell lines were treated with DMSO (control), JQ1, and Stattic for 7 hours after wound healing assay. Qiagen Rotor-Gene Q Series Software was used for analysis. DMSO treated cell line were used as a control. JQ1 and Stattic treated cell lines normalized based on DMSO treatment. Graphs were drawn with GraphPad Prism 9.4.1 Software. (Relative gene expression level showed in Log10).

In addition to the *SNAIL*, *SLUG*, and *TWIST* genes, *CTNNB1*, which is also called β -catenin, is another EMT related biomarker. The WNT/ β -Catenin signaling pathway influences EMT by modulating the expression of EMT transcription factors (Xiao et al., 2021). β -Catenin is important for *CDH1* expression in the EMT pathway. CDH1 and β -Catenin plays role in cell-cell adhesion and connections. β -Catenin is an intracellular protein that is attached to the actin cytoskeleton of a cell. CDH1 is attached to β -Catenin to form a complex that can associate with nearby cells to form bonds with the cell's cytoskeleton (Ramis-Conde et al., 2008). Phosphorylated β -Catenin is released when it is disconnected from CDH1. It is ready

to interact with other molecules, and if it does not interact with other molecules, phosphorylated β –Catenin is detected and destroyed by cellular proteasome systems for recycling. The intracellular location of β –Catenin is crucial for the preservation of tissue architecture. Associated with cell migration and the epithelial-mesenchymal transition is the high regulation of free β –Catenin (Wong & Gumbiner, 2003). Free β –Catenin upregulation in the nucleus, is thought to communicate with EMT TFs in the nucleus and cause cell migration (Jankowski et al., 1997). Based on this literature knowledge, *CTNNB1* (β -catenin) expression was examined by quantitative qRT-PCR analysis. The previous data shows us that *CDH1* expression is higher in AC599 cell line. From this point of view, the β –Catenin expression could be higher in IOMM Lee cell lines in direct proportion to *CDH1*. Cells were collected after 7 hours of JQ1 and Stattic treatment and wound healing assay. 7 hour JQ1 treated IOMM Lee meningioma cell line β –Catenin expression is significantly upregulated compared to 7 hour JQ1 treated AC599 meningioma cell line (Figure 3.18).

As known in previous data both non-resistant and resistant AC599 meningioma cell line has decreased CDH1 expression rate while they have increased Vimentin and N*cadherin.* When *CDH1* expression is downregulated, β -*Catenin* expression is also decreased. Even in immunofluorescence assay β -Catenin signals were only detected in 7 hour JQ1 and Stattic treatment nevertheless β -Catenin expression was only present in the cytoplasm. After 7 hours, the β -Catenin signal disappeared, which suggests that these free β -Catenin in the cytoplasm could be degraded (Figure 3.13). When static treatments of AC599 and IOMM Lee meningioma cell line was compared, there is a significant 4-fold increase in β -Catenin expression in 7 hour Stattic treated IOMM Lee meningioma cell line (Figure 3.18). Non-resistant and resistant cells compared after benign and malignant cells comparison. In AC599 meningioma cell line, AC599 JR meningioma cell line have higher expression levels of β -Catenin compared to non-resistant AC599 meningioma cell line (Figure 3.18). But still have no protein translation of β -catenin. This means that β -Catenin is not functional in EMT pathway activation in AC599 cell line. But β -Catenin seems functional in IOMM Lee cell line. The β -Catenin protein expression seems higher in the immunofluorescence assay (Figure 3.12). Also, the expression rate of *CDH1* in IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line is 4 times higher than in non-resistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line based on RNA-Seq data (Figure 3.2). These protein translations of β -Catenin were in the nucleus in IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line (Figure 3.12). The β -Catenin plays a role in EMT TFs transcript based on its localization even if it seems IOMM Lee meningioma cell line have an increase in *CTNNB1* expression (Figure 3.18).



Figure 3.18. *CTNNB1* which is an EMT TFs relative gene expression among meningioma cell line with different treatments was shown.

Non-resistant and JQ1 resistant AC599 and IOMM Lee cell lines were treated with DMSO (control), JQ1, and Stattic for 7 hours after wound healing assay. Qiagen Rotor-Gene Q Series Software was used for analysis. DMSO treated cell line were used as a control. JQ1 and Stattic treated cell lines normalized based on DMSO treatment. Graphs were drawn with GraphPad Prism 9.4.1 Software. (Relative gene expression level showed in Log10).

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

Meningioma is one of the most challenging brain cancers. It can be relatively easily removed via surgery in most cases if diagnosed at early stages; however, often it is diagnosed at later stages and its location might exclude surgery options. Although it is difficult for tumors formed in the brain to cross the blood-brain barrier, they can still reach the blood vessels and or lymphatic system through which they can migrate to other parts of the body. Primary benign cancer cells cannot migrate to another organ or tissue unless they are close to blood vessels or lymph nodes. Some gene groups or pathways are involved in the migration of cancer cells. One of these pathways is the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) pathway. After the activation of the EMT pathway, epithelial cells lose their properties and acquire mesenchymal cells' properties. In this process, original cells with tight cell-cell junctions lose these properties, and cell-cell and ECM interactions get weaker. This increases the possibility of cells migrating from one place to another. Few critical genes or transcription factors are known to play a role in the activation of the EMT pathway. The most important of them are CDH1, CDH2 (N-cadherin), and VIM. These are the fundamental EMT markers. If CDH1 expression is high in the cell and there is almost no expression of N-cadherin and Vimentin, that cell has epithelial properties. However, if Vimentin and N-cadherin expression become high, those cells are now considered to have acquired mesenchymal characteristics. After all gene transitions occur, the EMT pathway gets activated. Migration features of cells are shown to increase with the increment of mesenchymal features.

Meningioma cells can become metastatic depending on their location and EMT gene program activation. In addition, changes are observed in the metastatic properties of tumor cells depending on whether they are malignant or benign. In our study, we use malignant and benign meningioma cell lines as a model which we compare using IOMM Lee (Grade III), non-*NF2* mutant, and AC599 (Grade I), *NF2* mutant, cell models. Meningioma cells with *NF2* losses generally showed higher levels of protein translation of various EMT markers. E-Cadherin binds actin which is directly or indirectly attached to cortical actin fibers in meningiomas and is necessary for the formation of epithelial bonds. NF2/Merlin, which is accepted as a meningeal tumor suppressor, enables the fibers to transform into membrane proteins and ensures the protection of meningeal cell-cell contacts. Thereupon, it was stated that there is a correlation between NF2 and E-Cadherin (James et al., 2008). But current literature supporting this statement is limited and it should be investigated in the future.

In addition to non-resistant (parental) IOMM Lee and AC599 meningioma cell lines, we also use their JQ1 drug-resistant counterparts namely IOMM Lee JR and AC599 JR meningioma cell lines. Different research groups have shown that BRD4 inhibition changes epithelial cell morphology to mesenchymal cell morphology. Other groups also reported similar morphological changes in embryonic stem cells after JQ1 treatment (Horne et al., 2015). To understand how JQ1 resistance affects the morphology of meningioma cells, we decided to examine first if meningioma cell lines show any morphological changes upon JQ1 drug resistance. We have found that JQ1 Resistant cell lines have acquired distinctive morphological changes during this process. The non-resistant parental meningioma cell lines were smaller, rounder, and shorter, while the JQ1 Resistant counterparts appeared larger, broad, and slender (Figure 3.1). It was thought that the EMT pathway might be active in the cells whose features we evaluated further in our study. These morphological changes showed features of epithelial and mesenchymal cell characteristics. To understand these differences at the molecular level non-resistant (parental) and their JQ1 Resistant counterpart meningioma cell lines were subjected to RNA sequencing. Following RNA sequence analysis, we have found that there is an increase in the expression of E-cadherin (CDH1), which plays a role as an epithelial marker, SNAI1 (SNAIL) and SNAI2 (SLUG) in the IOMM Lee cell line, which represents more malignant properties in our study (Figure 3.2). In the non-resistant (parental) group of the AC599 meningioma cell line, there was a significant increase in the expression of

TGFB1, VIM, CDH2 (N-cadherin), and TWIST1 genes (Figure 3.3). Based on the differences in these gene expressions, we can say that upon JQ1 resistance acquisition, the AC599 meningioma cell line gained more mesenchymal cell characteristics compared to its non-resistant (parental) AC599 counterpart as well as the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line in our study. Therefore, in resistant IOMM Lee JR, CDH1 gene expression increases 4 times compared to non-resistant parental IOMM Lee (Figure 3.2). While there is an increase in *CDH1* in the IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line, there is a decrease in CDH1 in the AC599 JR meningioma cell line. This difference shows that the EMT pathway should be activated in the AC599 JR meningioma cell line. CDH1 is downregulated (with fold change -2) in DMSOonly control treatment as well as the JQ1 treatment group of AC599 meningioma cell lines (with fold change -3) (Figure 3.3). When we compared IOMM Lee JR with AC599 JR, we found that CDH1 gene expression is lower in the AC599 JR meningioma cell line. This comparison showed that AC599 JR cells have the potential for EMT pathway activation and migration. Besides the decrease of CDH1, VIM, and CDH2 gene expressions were upregulated in the AC599 JR meningioma cell line (fold change of 2) compared to the non-resistant (parental) AC599 meningioma cell line (Figure 3.3). Another critical EMT regulator TWIST gene was also found upregulated in the AC599 JR meningioma cell line group compared to the non-resistant (parental) AC599 meningioma cell line (Figure 3.3). In summary, our RNA-seq data suggest that upon gaining JQ1 resistance, AC599 JR shows more mesenchymal properties based on their corresponding relative gene expression. Moreover, both CDH2 and TWIST genes were downregulated in the IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line compared to non-resistant (parental) IOMM Lee (Figure 3.2). We also investigated changes in gene expression patterns after JQ1 treatment in these meningioma cell lines. As a result, it was observed that the AC599 meningioma cell line showed mesenchymal characteristics compared to other cells after JQ1 treatment. EMT is observed upon JQ1 resistance (Calder et al., 2021). Thus, we further analyze our RNA-seq data using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis to understand

the possible upstream and downstream regulatory mechanisms that may be involved in our observed EMT gene expression pattern (Appendices A.2, A.3, A.4, and A.5).

We found that one of the most significant such regulators is the STAT3 transcription factor. In healthy cells, STAT3 is typically momentarily activated, but it is highly upregulated in a diverse range of tumor types and blood cancers, such as breast cancer, prostate cancer, head and neck cancer, melanoma, brain cancer, and gastrointestinal cancers (Li & Huang, 2017). Moreover, STAT3 involves nearly entire biological processes like metastasis, apoptosis, stemness, and cell cycle. Our IPA data suggested that the STAT family could be the master regulator of EMT markers in meningioma. In cholangiocarcinoma, metastasis regulates via the activation of STAT3 (Sun et al., 2019). As we know from the literature, the JAK/STAT pathway is well established for its role in EMT pathway regulation. Recent research indicates that STAT3 functions as a stimulator and regulator of cells' epithelial to mesenchymal transition, both in healthy and pathological circumstances (Wendt et al., 2014). To test this hypothesis in our meningioma model cell system, we use Stattic treatment, which is a STAT3 inhibitor. We then use wound healing assay to evaluate how inhibition of STAT3 can affect cellular migration in vitro. To exclude the possibility of wound closure occurring due to cell proliferation we also evaluated the effect of STAT3 inhibitor in a cell proliferation assay. Targeting cell cycle-related regulatory factors, STAT3 changes the progression of the cell cycle (Qin et al., 2019). Stattic treatment induced G1 arrestment in pancreatic cancer cells (Guo et al., 2022). Our main reason of doing this is to see that cells move only with their metastatic properties during the wound healing assay. After 24 hours of drug treatment, the cells were fixed and stained with PI to look at cell cycles by flow cytometry (Figure 3.9). Our cell cycle studies indicated that there appears to be a decrease in the M and G2 phases and an increase in the G1 phases of the cells after both JQ1 and Stattic treatment. We see that with the increase of the G1 phase, the drugs significantly reduce the division properties of the cells (Figure 3.10). In conclusion, JQ1 and Stattic treatment does not affect cell cycle distribution. JQ1 and Stattic treatment both induce G1 arrest in non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee and AC599 meningioma cells.

This data suggested that the cells would close the wound not by dividing but by their metastatic properties during the wound healing assay. After creating the gap by scratching the cells in the plate, JQ1 and Stattic were added to the culture, and cell migration was monitored for up to 24 hours. When AC599 meningioma cell line is exposed to JQ1 and Stattic treatment, cells did not progress and; therefore, did not close the wound (Figure 3.4). This was consistent with the literature while BRD4 inhibition with JQ1 treatment induces cell cycle arrest, it reduces migration and wound healing of breast cancer cell MDA-MB-231 (Choi et al., 2015). Cancer cells often gain resistance to drugs after a while upon treatment. If BRD4 inhibitor, JQ1 treatment affects cell cycle arrest and wound healing in different cancer cells, gaining resistance to JQ1 drug should have the opposite effect in these cells. However, when we looked at AC599 JR meningioma cell line, we observed that they closed the wound completely after 24 hours in both control and JQ1 and Stattic treatments (Figure 3.5). Even though JQ1 treatment reduces wound healing in non-resistant cancer cells, in JQ1 resistant cells we did not detect any effect on wound healing in the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line (Figure 3.6). When we compare the results of the wound healing assay in the light of RNA-Seq data, the increase in the mesenchymal markers of the cells correlates with the increase in their metastatic properties in JQ1 resistant AC599 meningioma cell line (Figure 3.4). JQ1 resistance in AC599 meningioma cell line affects EMT pathway activation. When we look at the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line, there is no significant wound closure at the end of 24 hours after drug treatments in both non-resistant and resistant cells (Figures 3.6 and 3.7). When the RNA-Seq data of the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line are compared with the wound healing data, it is seen that the epithelial feature is more dominant in the cells, and; therefore, they behave more like epithelial cells in culture as well (Figures 3.2, 3.6, and 3.7). STAT3 inhibition with Stattic also affects cell proliferation. Stattic treatment works with the inhibition of STAT3 phosphorylation on Tyr705. The inhibition of phosphorylation affects the activation of STAT3 and

interaction with other molecules in signaling pathways. The Stattic treatment should decrease cell proliferation. STAT3 alters the cell cycle's development by focusing on regulatory elements that are connected to the cell cycle. (Qin et al., 2019). STAT3 inhibition also inhibits cell migration. Stattic treatment in AC599, IOMM Lee, and IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell lines was shown to inhibit the migration of cells (Figures 3.4, 3.6, and 3.7). However, in AC599 JR meningioma cell line Stattic treatment did not affect the migration of the cells (Figure 3.5). They close the wound after 24 hours of Stattic treatment which suggests that *STAT3* might not play any role in EMT activation in the AC599 JR meningioma cell line. Based on our data *STAT3* plays a role in cell migration in AC599, IOMM Lee, and IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell lines.

There is a change in EMT biomarkers and TFs expression based on RNA-Seq data. But when a gene is expressed in a cell, it does not mean there is a protein translation based on this gene expression. Therefore, gene expression must be translated at the protein level for its biological role to take place in the cell. To understand EMT activation at the protein level we decided to look at the antibody staining of the main EMT markers in cell culture, whose expression changes were also observed in the RNA-Seq data (Figure 3.2 and Figure 3.3). To achieve this, cells were stained with CDH1, N-cadherin, Vimentin, and β -Catenin antibodies, which are the main EMT markers. As a result of staining, cells close to the part of the wound were observed while imaging. Vimentin and N-cadherin protein translation were seen in the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line upon treatment with both JQ1 and Stattic within 24 hours (Figure 3.11). On the contrary, CDH1 protein translation was not seen. This may be due to the translation of the CDH1 protein was not seen in the IOMM Lee cell. Expression of N-cadherin and Vimentin was not seen in all the cells but cells that are close to the gap area have strong signals (Figure 3.11). When we look at the IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line, CDH1 protein translation increases at 7 hours and then decreases, while an increase in N-cadherin protein translation was observed for 24 hours (Figure 3.12). We can say that cells get used to drugs and reveal their metastatic properties. When the RNA-Seq and immunofluorescence assay are compared, there is a 2 times increase in CDH1 expression but there was not a significant protein translation of CDH1 in the immunofluorescence study (Figures 3.2 and 3.12). This shows that the IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line expresses epithelial markers compared to mesenchymal markers. But the cells that are near the wound do not translate epithelial marker proteins. Even though those cells express higher amounts of Vimentin and N-cadherin protein. This can be shown that IOMM Lee and IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell lines could have partial mesenchymal properties. The particular reason for the circumstance for 24 hours, N-cadherin and Vimentin protein translation was increased in cells close to the wound.

When we look at the benign, AC599, meningioma cell line as well as the malignant, IOMM Lee, meningioma cell lines, we did not see CDH1 expression in the immunofluorescence assay (Figure 3.13). Expression of epithelial markers is also decreased in RNA-Seq data (Figure 3.3). It is possible not to detect protein translation when gene expression is significantly downregulated. The decrease of CDH1 expression was also affected by upstream EMT TFs' expression. SNAIL and SLUG transcription factors are known to regulate CDH1 expression. However, there is an increase in N-cadherin and Vimentin expression after both JQ1 and Stattic treatments within 24 hours (Figure 3.13). When we encounter other cells, N-cadherin appears to be concentrated around the cell nucleus. In the AC599 JR meningioma cell line, there was an increase in Vimentin protein translation after 24 hours of JQ1 and Stattic treatment (Figure 3.14). But there is a difference between the AC599 JR meningioma cell line and the non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line. AC599 JR meningioma cell line expressed mesenchymal markers in every cell, in the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line some of the cells express mesenchymal markers. However, in the AC599 JR cell line, there was not any protein expression of β -Catenin within 24 hours of treatment. β -Catenin protein translation was not only low in protein level but also its gene expression was lower than the non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line. Whenever CDH1 and β -Catenin join, a complex is created that can connect with the cell's cytoskeleton and nearby cells to form connections. If CDH1 is downregulated, its connection with β -Catenin breaks

down and β -Catenin is released into the cytoplasm (Ramis-Conde et al., 2008). After this process, β -Catenin becomes a target for degradation, and its expression was downregulated. In figure 9, *CDH1* expression was decreased 8 times more than AC599 NR (non-resistant) meningioma cell line. There was a decrease in gene expression of epithelial markers based on RNA-Seq data (Figure 3.3). However, there is an increase in mesenchymal markers in both the non-resistant AC599 meningioma cell line and the AC599 JR meningioma cell line.

After seeing translation and expression differences in EMT markers, we decided to examine the differential expression of EMT TFs' genes. The proteasome system quickly breaks down the main EMT TFs like *SNAIL*, *TWIST*, and *ZEB* that modulate EMT (Díaz et al., 2014). Besides *CTNNB1*, *SNAIL*, *TWIST*, and *SLUG* play role in *CDH1* expression. While their expression increased, *CDH1* expression decreased.

The regrowth of tumors was aided by SNAIL-driven EMT in a mouse model of breast cancer recurrence (Moody et al., 2005). Patients' remaining breast cancer cells after conventional therapy frequently display EMT and stem cell characteristics (Creighton et al., 2009). Overviews of EMT, which is a factor in the metastatic characteristic of epithelial cancer cells, is characterized by the stimulation of SNAIL and consequent decrease of CDH1 (Tian et al., 2020). The CDH1 expression also decreases in AC599 and AC599 JR meningioma cell lines after JQ1 and Stattic treatments. When non-resistant and resistant AC599 meningioma cell lines are compared to the non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee cell lines the epithelial markers' expressions are decreased. The decrease of epithelial markers especially *CDH1* affects β -*Catenin* expression at the same time. The β -*Catenin* expression is positively correlated with CDH1 because of the complex they constitute together. Non-resistant and resistant AC599 meningioma cell lines have a decrease in β -Catenin expression and CDH1 expression after both JQ1 and Stattic treatment (Figures 3.13 and 3.18). Contrary to this SNAIL, SLUG, and TWIST expressions are increased in both non-resistant and resistant AC599 meningioma cell lines after JQ1 and Stattic treatment (Figures 3.15, 3.16, and 3.17). However, their expressions significantly increase, especially in the AC599 JR meningioma cell line. The increase of *SNAIL*, *SLUG*, and *TWIST* affected *CDH1* negatively and its expression decreases based on EMT TFs. Decreasement of CDH1 induces N-cadherin and Vimentin protein translation (Figures 3.13 and 3.14). Drug resistance affects EMT TFs' and markers' expressions. Further, it triggers epithelial to mesenchymal transition.

IOMM Lee cell lines are malignant meningioma cell lines. The hypothesis was EMT activation and malignancy have a positive correlation. But previous data does not show any positive correlation between IOMM Lee and EMT activation. SNAIL, SLUG, and TWIST are the basic TFs of EMT. However, they are not expressed enough to affect EMT activation. After JQ1 and Stattic treatment of IOMM Lee and IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell lines, basic EMT TFs' expressions were examined. The examination showed that SNAIL, SLUG, and TWIST expressions were decreased (Figures 3.15, 3.16, and 3.17). Based on these expressions *CDH1* expression should be increased in the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line. However, in the immunofluorescence assay, CDH1 protein translation was not detected in the nonresistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line while it is expressed in the IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line (Figure 3.12). *CDH1* gene might be expressed in the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line but not translated at the protein level. The downregulation of EMT TFs, such as SNAIL, SLUG, and TWIST leads to the expression of CDH1. Overall, we observed differences in EMT marker expression among meningioma cell lines which highlight the fact that EMT pathway activations depend on cell identity and their exposure to chemotherapy.

In addition, according to the literature, it is known that the expression of epithelial markers, especially *E-cadherin*, is also dependent on *NF2* mutation. When we look at all the experimental results, the AC599 meningioma cell line that carries *NF2* mutation has low *E-cadherin* expression even before they acquire JQ1 resistance. Accordingly, we can say that *NF2* loss decreases the expression of *E-cadherin* and other epithelial markers in the AC599 meningioma cell line. According to the literature, *NF2* has a negative correlation with *SNAIL*. Accordingly, the effect of *NF2* loss also plays a role in the *SNAIL* expression increase in the AC599 meningioma

cell line. Changes in the transcription of these genes increase the tendency of the AC599 meningioma cell line to migrate. After acquiring JQ1 resistance, the AC599 meningioma cell line gains more aggressive mesenchymal cell properties and; therefore, the AC599 JR meningioma cell line is willing to migrate. We found that JQ1 resistance increased the expression of mesenchymal markers in AC599 meningioma cell lines (ie. AC599 JR). Furthermore, the positive correlation of *NF2* loss with epithelial markers caused a significant increase in mesenchymal markers after JQ1 resistance.

When we look at the malignant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line, we see that the expression of *E-cadherin* is high even before gaining JQ1 resistance. We expect the IOMM Lee cell, which is more aggressive than AC599, to have fewer epithelial features and to be more willing to migrate. However, when the *NF2* mutation is involved, we see that the AC599 meningioma cell line with *NF2* loss shows more mesenchymal properties than the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line and they gain more migratory features. The IOMM Lee meningioma cell line does not have the *NF2* loss (ie. Non-*NF2* meningioma) and has high *E-cadherin* expression. The IOMM Lee meningioma cell line. Therefore, the genetic makeup of the tumor is critical to design personalized therapies to target the underlying molecular mechanism in cancer treatment.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

EMT and chemoresistance are closely related subjects. Tumor cells that acquire drug resistance may develop EMT pathway characteristics (Shah et al., 2007). On the other hand, tumor cells that went through EMT also develop resistance to treatment (Yin et al., 2007). In addition, decreasing EMT can improve drug sensitivity (Fischer et al., 2015; Zheng et al., 2015). EMT TFs establish a resistance to chemotherapy and radiotherapy through different mechanisms including resistance to apoptosis, enhanced DNA damage repair, and altered drug metabolism (van Staalduinen et al., 2018). Our study results show that metastatic properties increase in meningioma cell lines with chemoresistance. EMT and chemoresistance are two pathways that affect each other and work with positive feedback. Activation of the EMT pathway increases in cells that develop drug resistance (Du & Shim, 2016). When we compared malignant and benign meningioma cell lines, we observed that benign meningioma cells gain more metastatic properties after they acquired drug resistance. In light of these results, we see that there is no relation between the metastatic properties of malignant cells gaining drug resistance or not. This could be explained by the fact that chemoresistance might not change malignant cell biology as much as it changes benign cell biology during the process. While the EMT pathway has the potential to be seen in a colony of tumor cells, it can be seen in some cells and not in others contributing to the tumor heterogeneity which makes tumor therapy challenging in often cases. This is also called partial EMT. As a result of our experiments, we can say that EMT markers increase in the cells that have the opportunity to migrate. To understand the fact of EMT markers in wound healing and migration the Wound Healing Assay was done. Based on this assay while the malignancy decreases the migration property increases. However, when a cell gains drug resistance, the migration property and EMT marker expression increase. Even

though EMT markers are expressed, if they are not translated at the protein level, the gene cannot be affected by EMT pathway activation. However, the expression of EMT markers is affected by different pathways and TFs.

The EMT-related cellular changes were only partially inhibited by STAT3 suppression (Rocha et al., 2018). STAT3 does not always play a role in every pathway activation. Based on our results, only some of the cells receiving Stattic treatment showed that genes related to the EMT pathway and TFs were affected. STAT3 inhibition reduces cell proliferation and metastasis, and in some conditions, it stops migration. When the effects of STAT3 inhibition on EMT genes are not observed, we can say that the STAT3 gene does not play a role in the activation of the EMT pathway. According to our results, Stattic treatment has no impact on mesenchymal markers in a malignant meningioma cell, IOMM Lee. We can say that Stattic treatment will not be our first choice as a treatment specific to EMT in malignant meningioma. Although some of the epithelial markers influence gene expression in malignant cells, there is no effect on the expression of mesenchymal markers. Stattic treatment inhibits metastasis and cell proliferation in other cancer types and causes cells to enter apoptosis. For this reason, we can say that STAT3 inhibition is more likely specific to tumors and could be potentially used as a treatment for tumors with a specific gene profile.

JQ1 therapy is known to cause morphological alterations in embryonic stem cells (Horne et al., 2015). Numerous studies have demonstrated that BRD4 inhibition converts epithelial cells to mesenchymal cells. Activation of the EMT pathway has been observed in the literature and after morphological changes in our meningioma cells. In addition to the effect of JQ1 treatment, the activation of the EMT pathway is also seen in our cells that have become resistant to JQ1. When malignant and benign meningioma cell lines were compared, more morphological changes and metastatic features are observed in the benign AC599 meningioma cell line after is made resistant to the JQ1 drug. According to our data, upon gaining JQ1 resistance, the benign meningioma cell, AC599, gains more aggressive properties and increases its metastatic properties. JQ1 treatment suppresses the migratory properties of the

non-resistant benign AC599 meningioma cell line. However, after the AC599 meningioma cell line gains resistance to JQ1 (ie. AC599 JR), JQ1 and Stattic treatments work partially in these cells because they show more aggressive properties upon acquiring chemoresistance. In non-resistant IOMM Lee, a malignant meningioma cell line, JQ1 treatment does not show a significant response. It partially inhibits EMT activation and metastasis. However, when the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line gains JQ1 resistance, it becomes even more aggressive and the effects of JQ1 and Stattic treatments were not effective as expected. To sum up, JQ1 and Stattic treatments are viable therapy options for cancer treatment. However, they should be used in cell and pathway-specific manner for effective cancer treatment.

EMT pathways' most important TFs are SNAIL, SLUG, and TWIST. In this study traces of the EMT pathway in the meningioma cell lines are seen in the AC599 meningioma cell line, which is benign and JQ1 resistant. After it was understood that AC599 JR growth differed morphologically, EMT markers were examined. One of the most notable suppression targets during the EMT procedure is the traditional epithelial biomarker CDH1 (Aiello & Kang, 2019), which is a crucial element of adherent connectivity. Transcriptional regulation of CDH1 and several other epithelial genes is specifically targeted by several EMT TFs, such as SNAIL, SLUG, and Zinc-finger E-box-binding homeoboxes 1 and 2 (ZEB1/2) (Comijn et al., 2001; Bolós et al., 2003). EMT TFs support the expression of crucial mesenchymal genes such as Vimentin (VIM), and N-cadherin (CDH2) (Aiello & Kang, 2019). On top of that, N-cadherin and Vimentin, which are mesenchymal markers, are also seen in the sequence, while CDH1 is the decreased scene. EMT TFs TWIST is an important promoter of the mesenchymal transcription program (Yang et al., 2004; Ocaña et al., 2012). A series of works made in the supplement edition of TWIST. Also, other notable TFs are SNAIL and SLUG. Research shows that SNAIL-derived EMT promotes metastasis in melanoma (Kudo-Saito et al., 2009).

In our study *SNAIL* and *SLUG* expressions play a role in *CDH1* expression level. Our malignant meningioma cell line, IOMM Lee, has an expression of *CDH1* and correlating to this expression *SNAIL* and *SLUG* have low expression rates. In conclusion, the benign meningioma cell line, AC599, gains EMT activation after JQ1 resistance while the IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line has a low amount of activation in the EMT pathway. EMT pathway activation is mostly based on *CDH2*, *VIM*, and *TWIST* which are EMT TFs. These three genes are the most important markers of mesenchymal properties. *CDH1* and β –*Catenin* are important epithelial markers. Identification of these genes and expression rates show EMT pathway activation. However, our malignant cell lines, even if they are non-resistant or JQ1 resistant IOMM Lee meningioma cell lines have partial EMT. The cells which are near the wound or the circulation mechanism have a higher possibility to activate the EMT pathway. Because they are more able to migrate to another place, compared to the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line, benign AC599, and AC599 JR cell lines express mesenchymal markers, and all the cells of AC599 and AC599 JR can migrate. To sum up, the benign meningioma cell line, AC599, gains migrational and mesenchymal properties after gaining JQ1 resistance. The malignancy of cancer cells does not always affect their migrational properties.

We know that the AC599 meningioma cell line has *NF2* mutation which plays a role in cell-cell adherence. NF2/Merlin is bound to actin in the cytoskeleton, and its loss triggers the loss of tight junctions. In addition, E-cadherin plays a role in adhesion/tight junctions in cells and is associated with actin filaments. In our study, we see that E-cadherin decreases in the AC599 meningioma cell line more than the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line. The *NF2* loss in the AC599 meningioma cell line affects *E-cadherin* expression in the AC599 meningioma cell line. Despite being an aggressive meningioma cell, the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line expresses *Ecadherin*. This expression must be associated with the non-*NF2* mutation. In conclusion, *NF2* mutation plays a role in EMT activation. *NF2* loss correlates with a decrease in *E-cadherin* expression in meningioma. Even if the meningioma cells are benign the *NF2* mutation increases the aggressiveness and migration properties of the cells. However, in the malignant IOMM Lee meningioma cell line, non-*NF2* mutations decrease the aggressiveness of the cells and play an important role in epithelial markers' expression. To understand this, aggressive CH157MN cells with *NF2* mutation should be compared with the IOMM Lee meningioma cell line in future studies. Thus, the effect of *NF2* mutation on EMT markers and activation in malignant meningioma cells should be examined. Further, the molecular interplay between JQ1 chemoresistance and *NF2*, which is a main mutation in almost half of the meningioma tumors, should be investigated and aberrant molecular targets must be identified for potential targeted therapies.

In future studies, the relations between EMT and chemoresistance should be further investigated. In particular, we must address how the migrational properties of cell lines with different degrees of malignancy change. The tumor microenvironment and epigenetic landscape need to be integrated for their contribution to the tumor state. For instance, since there is a partial EMT observed in non-resistant and resistant IOMM Lee and AC599 meningioma cell lines, 3D organoid models could be established to address these questions.

REFERENCES

- Abedalthagafi, M., Bi, W. L., Aizer, A. A., Merrill, P. H., Brewster, R., Agarwalla, P. K., Listewnik, M. L., Dias-Santagata, D., Thorner, A. R., Van Hummelen, P., Brastianos, P. K., Reardon, D. A., Wen, P. Y., Al-Mefty, O., Ramkissoon, S. H., Folkerth, R. D., Ligon, K. L., Ligon, A. H., Alexander, B. M., . . . Santagata, S. (2016). Oncogenic PI3K mutations are as common asAKT1andSMOmutations in meningioma. Neuro-Oncology, 18(5), 649–655. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/nov316
- Acloque, H., Adams, M. S., Fishwick, K., Bronner-Fraser, M., & Nieto, M. A. (2009). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions: the importance of changing cell state in development and disease. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 119(6), 1438–1449. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci38019
- Aiello, N. M., & Kang, Y. (2019). Context-dependent EMT programs in cancer metastasis. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 216(5), 1016–1026. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20181827
- Alahmadi, H., & Croul, S. E. (2011). Pathology and genetics of meningiomas. Seminars in Diagnostic Pathology, 28(4), 314–324. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semdp.2011.01.002
- Ansieau, S., Collin, G., & Hill, L. (2014). EMT or EMT-Promoting Transcription Factors, Where to Focus the Light? Frontiers in Oncology, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2014.00353
- Babaei, G., Aziz, S. G. G., & Jaghi, N. Z. Z. (2021). EMT, cancer stem cells, and autophagy; The three main axes of metastasis. Biomedicine &Amp; Pharmacotherapy, 133, 110909. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110909

- Bachir, S., Shah, S., Shapiro, S., Koehler, A., Mahammedi, A., Samy, R. N.,
 Zuccarello, M., Schorry, E., & Sengupta, S. (2021). Neurofibromatosis Type 2 (*NF2*) and the Implications for Vestibular Schwannoma and Meningioma Pathogenesis. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 22(2), 690. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22020690
- Baumgarten, P., Gessler, F., Schittenhelm, J., Skardelly, M., Tews, D. S., Senft, C., Dunst, M., Imoehl, L., Plate, K. H., Wagner, M., Steinbach, J. P., Seifert, V., Mittelbronn, M., & Harter, P. N. (2016). Brain invasion in otherwise benign meningiomas does not predict tumor recurrence. Acta Neuropathologica, 132(3), 479–481. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1598-1
- Biczok, A., Jungk, C., Egensperger, R., von Deimling, A., Suchorska, B., Tonn, J. C., Herold-Mende, C., & Schichor, C. (2019). Microscopic brain invasion in meningiomas previously classified as WHO grade I is not associated with patient outcome. Journal of Neuro-Oncology, 145(3), 469–477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-019-03312-x
- Bid, H. K., Phelps, D. A., Xaio, L., Guttridge, D. C., Lin, J., London, C., Baker, L.
 H., Mo, X., & Houghton, P. J. (2016). The Bromodomain BET Inhibitor JQ1
 Suppresses Tumor Angiogenesis in Models of Childhood Sarcoma.
 Molecular Cancer Therapeutics, 15(5), 1018–1028.
 https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.mct-15-0567
- Bolós, V., Peinado, H., Pérez-Moreno, M. A., Fraga, M. F., Esteller, M., & Cano, A. (2003). The transcription factor SLUG represses E-cadherin expression and induces epithelial to mesenchymal transitions: a comparison with SNAIL and E47 repressors. Journal of Cell Science, 116(3), 499–511. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.00224
- Braicu, C., Zanoaga, O., Zimta, A. A., Tigu, A. B., Kilpatrick, K. L., Bishayee, A., Nabavi, S. M., & Berindan-Neagoe, I. (2022). Natural compounds modulate the crosstalk between apoptosis- and autophagy-regulated signaling
pathways: Controlling the uncontrolled expansion of tumor cells. SeminarsinCancerBiology,80,218–236.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2020.05.015

- Bruner, H. C., & Derksen, P. W. (2017). Loss of E-Cadherin-Dependent Cell–Cell
 Adhesion and the Development and Progression of Cancer. Cold Spring
 Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 10(3), a029330.
 https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a029330
- Calabrese, V., Cornelius, C., Dinkova-Kostova, A. T., Iavicoli, I., Di Paola, R., Koverech, A., Cuzzocrea, S., Rizzarelli, E., & Calabrese, E. J. (2012).
 Cellular stress responses, hormetic phytochemicals, and vitagenes in aging and longevity. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease, 1822(5), 753–783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.11.002
- Calder, J., Nagelberg, A., Luu, J., Lu, D., & Lockwood, W. W. (2021). Resistance to BET inhibitors in lung adenocarcinoma is mediated by casein kinase phosphorylation of BRD4. Oncogenesis, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41389-021-00316-z
- Cano, A., Pérez-Moreno, M. A., Rodrigo, I., Locascio, A., Blanco, M. J., del Barrio, M. G., Portillo, F., & Nieto, M. A. (2000). The transcription factor SNAIL controls epithelial–mesenchymal transitions by repressing E-cadherin expression. Nature Cell Biology, 2(2), 76–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/35000025
- Chen, T., You, Y., Jiang, H., & Wang, Z. Z. (2017). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT): A biological process in the development, stem cell differentiation, and tumorigenesis. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 232(12), 3261–3272. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.25797
- Cheng, G. Z., Zhang, W., Sun, M., Wang, Q., Coppola, D., Mansour, M., Xu, L., Costanzo, C., Cheng, J. Q., & Wang, L. H. (2008). TWIST Is Transcriptionally Induced by Activation of STAT3 and Mediates STAT3

Oncogenic Function. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 283(21), 14665–14673. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m707429200

- CHOI, S. K., HONG, S. H., KIM, H. S., SHIN, C. Y., NAM, S. W., CHOI, W. S., HAN, J. W., & YOU, J. S. (2015). JQ1, an inhibitor of the epigenetic reader BRD4, suppresses the bidirectional MYC-AP4 axis via multiple mechanisms. Oncology Reports, 35(2), 1186–1194. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2015.4410
- Clark, V. E., Erson-Omay, E. Z., Serin, A., Yin, J., Cotney, J., Özduman, K., Avşar, T., Li, J., Murray, P. B., Henegariu, O., Yilmaz, S., Günel, J. M., Carrión-Grant, G., Yılmaz, B., Grady, C., Tanrıkulu, B., Bakırcıoğlu, M., Kaymakçalan, H., Caglayan, A. O., . . . Günel, M. (2013). Genomic Analysis of Non-*NF2* Meningiomas Reveals Mutations in TRAF7, KLF4, AKT1, and SMO. Science, 339(6123), 1077–1080. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1233009
- Combs, S. E., Schulz-Ertner, D., Debus, J., von Deimling, A., & Hartmann, C. (2011). Improved Correlation of the Neuropathologic Classification According to Adapted World Health Organization Classification and Outcome After Radiotherapy in Patients with Atypical and Anaplastic Meningiomas. International Journal of Radiation Oncology*Biology*Physics, 81(5), 1415–1421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2010.07.039
- Comijn, J., Berx, G., Vermassen, P., Verschueren, K., van Grunsven, L., Bruyneel,
 E., Mareel, M., Huylebroeck, D., & van Roy, F. (2001). The Two-Handed E
 Box Binding Zinc Finger Protein SIP1 Downregulates E-Cadherin and
 Induces Invasion. Molecular Cell, 7(6), 1267–1278.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s1097-2765(01)00260-x

- Cordani, M., Strippoli, R., & Somoza, L. (2019). Nanomaterials as Inhibitors of Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition in Cancer Treatment. Cancers, 12(1), 25. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12010025
- Creighton, C. J., Li, X., Landis, M., Dixon, J. M., Neumeister, V. M., Sjolund, A., Rimm, D. L., Wong, H., Rodriguez, A., Herschkowitz, J. I., Fan, C., Zhang, X., He, X., Pavlick, A., Gutierrez, M. C., Renshaw, L., Larionov, A. A., Faratian, D., Hilsenbeck, S. G., . . . Chang, J. C. (2009). Residual breast cancers after conventional therapy display mesenchymal as well as tumorinitiating features. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(33), 13820–13825. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0905718106
- Debnath, P., Huirem, R., Dutta, P., & Palchaudhuri, S. (2021). Epithelialmesenchymal transition and its transcription factors. Bioscience Reports, 42(1). https://doi.org/10.1042/bsr20211754
- Díaz, V., Viñas-Castells, R., & García de Herreros, A. (2014). Regulation of the protein stability of EMT transcription factors. Cell Adhesion &Amp; Migration, 8(4), 418–428. https://doi.org/10.4161/19336918.2014.969998
- Donati, B., Lorenzini, E., & Ciarrocchi, A. (2018). BRD4 and Cancer: going beyond transcriptional regulation. Molecular Cancer, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-018-0915-9
- Du, B., & Shim, J. (2016). Targeting Epithelial–Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) to Overcome Drug Resistance in Cancer. Molecules, 21(7), 965. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21070965
- Emran, T. B., Shahriar, A., Mahmud, A. R., Rahman, T., Abir, M. H., Siddiquee, M. F. R., Ahmed, H., Rahman, N., Nainu, F., Wahyudin, E., Mitra, S., Dhama, K., Habiballah, M. M., Haque, S., Islam, A., & Hassan, M. M. (2022). Multidrug Resistance in Cancer: Understanding Molecular Mechanisms, Immunoprevention and Therapeutic Approaches. Frontiers in Oncology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2022.891652

- Esteller, M. (2002). CpG island hypermethylation and tumor suppressor genes: a booming present, a brighter future. Oncogene, 21(35), 5427–5440. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1205600
- Fardi, M., Solali, S., & Farshdousti Hagh, M. (2018). Epigenetic mechanisms as a new approach in cancer treatment: An updated review. Genes &Amp; Diseases, 5(4), 304–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2018.06.003
- Flores-Hernández, E., Velázquez, D. M., Castañeda-Patlán, M. C., Fuentes-García, G., Fonseca-Camarillo, G., Yamamoto-Furusho, J. K., Romero-Avila, M. T., García-Sáinz, J. A., & Robles-Flores, M. (2020). Canonical and non-canonical WNT signaling are simultaneously activated by WNTs in colon cancer cells. Cellular Signalling, 72, 109636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2020.109636
- Fodde, R., & Brabletz, T. (2007). WNT/β–Catenin signaling in cancer stemness and malignant behavior. Current Opinion in Cell Biology, 19(2), 150–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2007.02.007
- Garg, M. (2013). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition activating transcription factors - multifunctional regulators in cancer. World Journal of Stem Cells, 5(4), 188. https://doi.org/10.4252/wjsc.v5.i4.188
- Georgakopoulos-Soares, I., Chartoumpekis, D. V., Kyriazopoulou, V., & Zaravinos, A. (2020). EMT Factors and Metabolic Pathways in Cancer. Frontiers in Oncology, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.00499
- Gloushankova, N. A., Zhitnyak, I. Y., & Rubtsova, S. N. (2018). Role of Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Tumor Progression. Biochemistry (Moscow), 83(12–13), 1469–1476. https://doi.org/10.1134/s0006297918120052
- Gouzerh, F., Bessière, J. M., Ujvari, B., Thomas, F., Dujon, A. M., & Dormont, L. (2022). Odors and cancer: Current status and future directions. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Reviews on Cancer, 1877(1), 188644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2021.188644

- Hanahan, D. (2022). Hallmarks of Cancer: New Dimensions. Cancer Discovery, 12(1), 31–46. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.cd-21-1059
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell, 144(5), 646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Herholz, K., Langen, K. J., Schiepers, C., & Mountz, J. M. (2012). Brain Tumors. Seminars in Nuclear Medicine, 42(6), 356–370. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semnuclmed.2012.06.001
- HERMAWAN, A., WAGNER, E., & ROIDL, A. (2015). Consecutive salinomycin treatment reduces doxorubicin resistance of breast tumor cells by diminishing drug efflux pump expression and activity. Oncology Reports, 35(3), 1732– 1740. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2015.4509
- Horne, G. A., Stewart, H. J., Dickson, J., Knapp, S., Ramsahoye, B., & Chevassut, T. (2015). Nanog Requires BRD4 to Maintain Murine Embryonic Stem Cell Pluripotency and Is Suppressed by Bromodomain Inhibitor JQ1 Together with Lefty1. Stem Cells and Development, 24(7), 879–891. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2014.0302
- Housman, G., Byler, S., Heerboth, S., Lapinska, K., Longacre, M., Snyder, N., & Sarkar, S. (2014). Drug Resistance in Cancer: An Overview. Cancers, 6(3), 1769–1792. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers6031769
- Howard, S., Deroo, T., Fujita, Y., & Itasaki, N. (2011). A Positive Role of Cadherin in WNT/β–Catenin Signalling during Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. PLoS ONE, 6(8), e23899. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023899
- James, M. F., Lelke, J. M., MacCollin, M., Plotkin, S. R., Stemmer-Rachamimov, A. O., Ramesh, V., & Gusella, J. F. (2008). Modeling NF2 with human arachnoidal and meningioma cell culture systems: NF2 silencing reflects the benign character of tumor growth. Neurobiology of Disease, 29(2), 278–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2007.09.002

- Jankowski, J. A., Bruton, R., Shepherd, N., & Sanders, D. S. (1997). Cadherin and catenin biology represent a global mechanism for epithelial cancer progression. Molecular Pathology, 50(6), 289–290. https://doi.org/10.1136/mp.50.6.289
- Jia, W., Deshmukh, A., Mani, S. A., Jolly, M. K., & Levine, H. (2019). A possible role for epigenetic feedback regulation in the dynamics of the epithelial– mesenchymal transition (EMT). Physical Biology, 16(6), 066004. https://doi.org/10.1088/1478-3975/ab34df
- Kalamarides, M., Niwa-Kawakita, M., Leblois, H., Abramowski, V., Perricaudet, M., Janin, A., Thomas, G., Gutmann, D. H., & Giovannini, M. (2002). NF2 gene inactivation in arachnoidal cells is rate-limiting for meningioma development in the mouse. Genes &Amp; Development, 16(9), 1060–1065. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.226302
- Kalamarides, M., Stemmer-Rachamimov, A. O., Niwa-Kawakita, M., Chareyre, F., Taranchon, E., Han, Z. Y., Martinelli, C., Lusis, E. A., Hegedus, B., Gutmann, D. H., & Giovannini, M. (2011). Identification of a progenitor cell of origin capable of generating diverse meningioma histological subtypes. Oncogene, 30(20), 2333–2344. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2010.609
- Kalluri, R., & Weinberg, R. A. (2009). The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 119(6), 1420–1428. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci39104
- Kamamoto, D., Saga, I., Ohara, K., Yoshida, K., & Sasaki, H. (2019). Association Between CD133, CD44, and Nestin Expression and Prognostic Factors in High-Grade Meningioma. World Neurosurgery, 124, e188–e196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2018.12.067
- Kato, K. (2022). What is epigenetics? Inflammation and Oral Cancer, 79–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-323-88526-3.00005-1

- Kessler, R. A., Garzon-Muvdi, T., Yang, W., Weingart, J., Olivi, A., Huang, J., Brem, H., & Lim, M. (2017). Metastatic Atypical and Anaplastic Meningioma: A Case Series and Review of Literature. World Neurosurgery, 101, 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.01.070
- Komiya, Y., & Habas, R. (2008). WNT signal transduction pathways. Organogenesis, 4(2), 68–75. https://doi.org/10.4161/org.4.2.5851
- Kros, J., de Greve, K., van Tilborg, A., Hop, W., Pieterman, H., Avezaat, C., Lekanne dit Deprez, R., & Zwarthoff, E. (2001). NF2 status of meningiomas is associated with tumour localization and histology. The Journal of Pathology, 194(3), 367–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.909
- Kudo-Saito, C., Shirako, H., Takeuchi, T., & Kawakami, Y. (2009). Cancer Metastasis Is Accelerated through Immunosuppression during SNAIL-Induced EMT of Cancer Cells. Cancer Cell, 15(3), 195–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2009.01.023
- Kulis, M., & Esteller, M. (2010). DNA Methylation and Cancer. Epigenetics and Cancer, Part A, 27–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-380866-0.60002-2
- Kunnumakkara, A. B., Bordoloi, D., Sailo, B. L., Roy, N. K., Thakur, K. K., Banik, K., Shakibaei, M., Gupta, S. C., & Aggarwal, B. B. (2019). Cancer drug development: The missing links. Experimental Biology and Medicine, 244(8), 663–689. https://doi.org/10.1177/1535370219839163
- Laham-Karam, N., Pinto, G. P., Poso, A., & Kokkonen, P. (2020). Transcription and Translation Inhibitors in Cancer Treatment. Frontiers in Chemistry, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.00276
- Lamouille, S., Xu, J., & Derynck, R. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of epithelial– mesenchymal transition. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 15(3), 178–196. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3758

- Lecarpentier, Y., Schussler, O., Hébert, J. L., & Vallée, A. (2019). Multiple Targets of the Canonical WNT/β–Catenin Signaling in Cancers. Frontiers in Oncology, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01248
- Lee, J. M., Dedhar, S., Kalluri, R., & Thompson, E. W. (2006). The epithelialmesenchymal transition: new insights in signaling, development, and disease. Journal of Cell Biology, 172(7), 973–981. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200601018
- Lee, Y. S., & Lee, Y. S. (2020). Molecular characteristics of meningiomas. Journal of Pathology and Translational Medicine, 54(1), 45–63. https://doi.org/10.4132/jptm.2019.11.05
- Li, B., & Huang, C. (2017). Regulation of EMT by STAT3 in gastrointestinal cancer (Review). International Journal of Oncology, 50(3), 753–767. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2017.3846
- Louis, D. N., Perry, A., Reifenberger, G., von Deimling, A., Figarella-Branger, D., Cavenee, W. K., Ohgaki, H., Wiestler, O. D., Kleihues, P., & Ellison, D. W. (2016). The 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary. Acta Neuropathologica, 131(6), 803– 820. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1
- MacDonald, B. T., Tamai, K., & He, X. (2009). WNT/β–Catenin Signaling: Components, Mechanisms, and Diseases. Developmental Cell, 17(1), 9–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2009.06.016
- Mansoori, B., Mohammadi, A., Davudian, S., Shirjang, S., & Baradaran, B. (2017).
 The Different Mechanisms of Cancer Drug Resistance: A Brief Review.
 Advanced Pharmaceutical Bulletin, 7(3), 339–348.
 https://doi.org/10.15171/apb.2017.041
- Marconi, G. D., Fonticoli, L., Rajan, T. S., Pierdomenico, S. D., Trubiani, O., Pizzicannella, J., & Diomede, F. (2021). Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition

(EMT): The Type-2 EMT in Wound Healing, Tissue Regeneration and Organ Fibrosis. Cells, 10(7), 1587. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10071587

- Marks, P. A., Richon, V. M., Miller, T., & Kelly, W. K. (2004). Histone Deacetylase Inhibitors. Advances in Cancer Research, 137–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-230x(04)91004-4
- Marosi, C., Hassler, M., Roessler, K., Reni, M., Sant, M., Mazza, E., & Vecht, C. (2008). Meningioma. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology, 67(2), 153–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2008.01.010
- Martin, T. A., Goyal, A., Watkins, G., & Jiang, W. G. (2005). Expression of the Transcription Factors SNAIL, SLUG, and TWIST and Their Clinical Significance in Human Breast Cancer. Annals of Surgical Oncology, 12(6), 488–496. https://doi.org/10.1245/aso.2005.04.010
- McClatchey, A. I. (2003). Merlin and ERM proteins: unappreciated roles in cancer development? Nature Reviews Cancer, 3(11), 877–883. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1213
- Micalizzi, D. S., Maheswaran, S., & Haber, D. A. (2017). A conduit to metastasis: circulating tumor cell biology. Genes &Amp; Development, 31(18), 1827– 1840. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.305805.117
- Miller, J. L., & Grant, P. A. (2012). The Role of DNA Methylation and Histone Modifications in Transcriptional Regulation in Humans. Subcellular Biochemistry, 289–317. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4525-4_13
- Momparler, R. L. (2003). Cancer epigenetics. Oncogene, 22(42), 6479–6483. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1206774
- Moody, S. E., Perez, D., Pan, T. C., Sarkisian, C. J., Portocarrero, C. P., Sterner, C. J., Notorfrancesco, K. L., Cardiff, R. D., & Chodosh, L. A. (2005). The transcriptional repressor SNAIL promotes mammary tumor recurrence. Cancer Cell, 8(3), 197–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2005.07.009

- Muddassir, M., Soni, K., Sangani, C. B., Alarifi, A., Afzal, M., Abduh, N. A. Y., Duan, Y., & Bhadja, P. (2021). Bromodomain and BET family proteins as epigenetic targets in cancer therapy: their degradation, present drugs, and possible PROTACs. RSC Advances, 11(2), 612–636. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0ra07971e
- Murnyák, B., Bognár, L., Klekner, L., & Hortobágyi, T. (2015). Epigenetics of Meningiomas. BioMed Research International, 2015, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/532451
- Nathan, D., Sterner, D. E., & Berger, S. L. (2003). Histone modifications: Now summoning sumoylation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 100(23), 13118–13120. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2436173100
- Nedelcu, A. (2022). Evo-devo perspectives on cancer. Essays in Biochemistry, 66(6), 797–815. https://doi.org/10.1042/ebc20220041
- Nieto, M., Huang, R. J., Jackson, R., & Thiery, J. (2016). EMT: 2016. Cell, 166(1), 21–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.06.028
- Nowak, E., & Bednarek, I. (2021). Aspects of the Epigenetic Regulation of EMT Related to Cancer Metastasis. Cells, 10(12), 3435. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10123435
- Ocaña, O., Córcoles, R., Fabra, N., Moreno-Bueno, G., Acloque, H., Vega, S., Barrallo-Gimeno, A., Cano, A., & Nieto, M. (2012). Metastatic Colonization Requires the Repression of the Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Inducer Prrx1. Cancer Cell, 22(6), 709–724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.10.012
- Qi, C., Wu, X., Liu, L., Du, J., & Wang, B. (2009). Classification of CpG Islands in the Human Genome Based on the Interval Distance Distribution of Adjacent CG Sites. 2009 WRI World Congress on Computer Science and Information Engineering. https://doi.org/10.1109/csie.2009.822

- Qi, L., Sun, B., Liu, Z., Cheng, R., Li, Y., & Zhao, X. (2014). WNT3a expression is associated with epithelial-mesenchymal transition and promotes colon cancer progression. Journal of Experimental &Amp; Clinical Cancer Research, 33(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-014-0107-4
- Qin, J. J., Yan, L., Zhang, J., & Zhang, W. D. (2019). STAT3 as a potential therapeutic target in triple negative breast cancer: a systematic review. Journal of Experimental &Amp; Clinical Cancer Research, 38(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-019-1206-z
- Ramis-Conde, I., Drasdo, D., Anderson, A. R., & Chaplain, M. A. (2008). Modeling the Influence of the E-Cadherin-β–Catenin Pathway in Cancer Cell Invasion:
 A Multiscale Approach. Biophysical Journal, 95(1), 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.107.114678
- Ren, J., Chen, Y., Song, H., Chen, L., & Wang, R. (2013). Inhibition of ZEB1 reverses EMT and chemoresistance in docetaxel-resistant human lung adenocarcinoma cell line. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 114(6), 1395– 1403. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.24481
- Rocha, M. R., Barcellos-de-Souza, P., Sousa-Squiavinato, A. C. M., Fernandes, P. V., de Oliveira, I. M., Boroni, M., & Morgado-Diaz, J. A. (2018). Annexin A2 overexpression associates with colorectal cancer invasiveness and TGF-ß induced epithelial mesenchymal transition via Src/ANXA2/STAT3. Scientific Reports, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-29703-0
- Rodríguez-Hernández, L. A., Uribe-Pacheco, R., Mondragon-Soto, M., Alvaro-Heredia, J., Reyes-Moreno, I., Montano-Tello, H., Gutierrez-Aceves, G. A., Guerrero-Juarez, V., Castro-Martinez, E., & Gonzalez-Aguilar, A. (2022).
 Assessing the Malignancy Risk of a Meningioma by Its Location. Cureus. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.31213
- Rutkowski, R., Chrzanowski, R., Trwoga, M., Kochanowicz, J., Turek, G., Mariak, Z., & Reszeć, J. (2018). Expression of N-cadherin and β–Catenin in human

meningioma in correlation with peritumoral edema. International Journal of Neuroscience, 128(9), 805–810. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207454.2018.1424153

- Ruttledge, M. H., Sarrazin, J., Rangaratnam, S., Phelan, C. M., TWIST, E., Merel,
 P., Delattre, O., Thomas, G., Nordenskjöld, M., Collins, V. P., Dumanski, J.
 P., & Rouleau, G. A. (1994). Evidence for the complete inactivation of the *NF2* gene in the majority of sporadic meningiomas. Nature Genetics, 6(2),
 180–184. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0294-180
- Santamaria, P. G., Moreno-Bueno, G., Portillo, F., & Cano, A. (2017). EMT: Present and future in clinical oncology. Molecular Oncology, 11(7), 718–738. https://doi.org/10.1002/1878-0261.12091
- Sanz-Ezquerro, J. J., Münsterberg, A. E., & Stricker, S. (2017). Editorial: Signaling Pathways in Embryonic Development. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2017.00076
- Shah, A. N., Summy, J. M., Zhang, J., Park, S. I., Parikh, N. U., & Gallick, G. E. (2007). Development and Characterization of Gemcitabine-Resistant Pancreatic Tumor Cells. Annals of Surgical Oncology, 14(12), 3629–3637. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-007-9583-5
- Shapiro, L. (1997). The multi-talented β–Catenin makes its first appearance. Structure, 5(10), 1265–1268. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0969-2126(97)00278-5
- Shi, J., & Vakoc, C. (2014). The Mechanisms behind the Therapeutic Activity of BET Bromodomain Inhibition. Molecular Cell, 54(5), 728–736. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.05.016
- Shih, J. Y., & Yang, P. C. (2011). The EMT regulator SLUG and lung carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis, 32(9), 1299–1304. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgr110

- Singh, A., & Settleman, J. (2010). EMT, cancer stem cells and drug resistance: an emerging axis of evil in the war on cancer. Oncogene, 29(34), 4741–4751. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2010.215
- Sun, H., Peng, Z., Tang, H., Xie, D., Jia, Z., Zhong, L., Zhao, S., Ma, Z., Gao, Y., Zeng, L., Luo, R., & Xie, K. (2017). Loss of KLF4 and consequential downregulation of Smad7 exacerbate oncogenic TGF-β signaling in and promote progression of hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncogene, 36(21), 2957– 2968. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.447
- Sun, R., Liu, Z., Qiu, B., Chen, T., Li, Z., Zhang, X., Xu, Y., & Zhang, Z. (2019). Annexin10 promotes extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma metastasis by facilitating EMT via PLA2G4A/PGE2/STAT3 pathway. EBioMedicine, 47, 142–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.08.062
- Talebian, S., Daghagh, H., Yousefi, B., Özkul, Y., Ilkhani, K., Seif, F., & Alivand, M. R. (2020). The role of epigenetics and non-coding RNAs in autophagy: A new perspective for thorough understanding. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 190, 111309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2020.111309
- Taniguchi, Y. (2016). The Bromodomain and Extra-Terminal Domain (BET) Family: Functional Anatomy of BET Paralogous Proteins. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 17(11), 1849. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17111849
- Thiery, J. P. (2003). Epithelial–mesenchymal transitions in development and pathologies. Current Opinion in Cell Biology, 15(6), 740–746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2003.10.006
- Tian, Y., Qi, P., Niu, Q., & Hu, X. (2020). Combined SNAIL and E-cadherin Predicts Overall Survival of Cervical Carcinoma Patients: Comparison Among Various Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Proteins. Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2020.00022

- Trimboli, A. J., Fukino, K., de Bruin, A., Wei, G., Shen, L., Tanner, S. M., Creasap, N., Rosol, T. J., Robinson, M. L., Eng, C., Ostrowski, M. C., & Leone, G. (2008). Direct Evidence for Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transitions in Breast Cancer. Cancer Research, 68(3), 937–945. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.can-07-2148
- van Staalduinen, J., Baker, D., ten Dijke, P., & van Dam, H. (2018). Epithelialmesenchymal-transition-inducing transcription factors: new targets for tackling chemoresistance in cancer? Oncogene, 37(48), 6195–6211. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-018-0378-x
- Verhoeven, Y., Tilborghs, S., Jacobs, J., De Waele, J., Quatannens, D., Deben, C., Prenen, H., Pauwels, P., Trinh, X. B., Wouters, A., Smits, E. L., Lardon, F., & van Dam, P. A. (2020). The potential and controversy of targeting STAT family members in cancer. Seminars in Cancer Biology, 60, 41–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.10.002
- von Spreckelsen, N., Kesseler, C., Brokinkel, B., Goldbrunner, R., Perry, A., & Mawrin, C. (2022). Molecular neuropathology of brain-invasive meningiomas. Brain Pathology, 32(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/bpa.13048
- Wang, H., Li, Q. F., Chow, H., Choi, S., & Leung, Y. C. (2019). Arginine deprivation inhibits pancreatic cancer cell migration, invasion and EMT via the down regulation of SNAIL, SLUG, TWIST, and MMP1/9. Journal of Physiology and Biochemistry, 76(1), 73–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13105-019-00716-1
- Wang, Y., Shi, J., Chai, K., Ying, X., & Zhou, B. (2013). The Role of SNAIL in EMT and Tumorigenesis. Current Cancer Drug Targets, 13(9), 963–972. https://doi.org/10.2174/15680096113136660102
- Wang, Y., & Zhou, B. P. (2013). Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition—A Hallmark of Breast Cancer Metastasis. Cancer Hallmarks, 1(1), 38–49. https://doi.org/10.1166/ch.2013.1004

- Wendt, M. K., Balanis, N., Carlin, C. R., & Schiemann, W. P. (2014). STAT3 and epithelial–mesenchymal transitions in carcinomas. JAK-STAT, 3(2), e28975. https://doi.org/10.4161/jkst.28975
- Wong, A. S., & Gumbiner, B. M. (2003). Adhesion-independent mechanism for suppression of tumor cell invasion by E-cadherin. Journal of Cell Biology, 161(6), 1191–1203. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200212033
- Wu, R. S., Panusz, H. T., Hatch, C. L., & Bonner, W. M. (1986). Histones and Their Modification. Critical Reviews in Biochemistry, 20(2), 201–263. https://doi.org/10.3109/10409238609083735
- Wu, Y., Ginther, C., Kim, J., Mosher, N., Chung, S., Slamon, D., & Vadgama, J. V. (2012). Expression of WNT3 Activates WNT/β–Catenin Pathway and Promotes EMT-like Phenotype in Trastuzumab-Resistant HER2-Overexpressing Breast Cancer Cells. Molecular Cancer Research, 10(12), 1597–1606. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-12-0155-t
- Wu, Y., & Zhou, B. P. (2010). SNAIL. Cell Adhesion & Amp; Migration, 4(2), 199– 203. https://doi.org/10.4161/cam.4.2.10943
- Xiao, Q., Gan, Y., Li, Y., Fan, L., Liu, J., Lu, P., Liu, J., Chen, A., Shu, G., & Yin, G. (2021). MEF2A transcriptionally upregulates the expression of ZEB2 and CTNNB1 in colorectal cancer to promote tumor progression. Oncogene, 40(19), 3364–3377. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-021-01774-w
- Yang, Y., Park, J. W., Bebee, T. W., Warzecha, C. C., Guo, Y., Shang, X., Xing, Y., & Carstens, R. P. (2016). Determination of a Comprehensive Alternative Splicing Regulatory Network and Combinatorial Regulation by Key Factors during the Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 36(11), 1704–1719. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00019-16
- Yilmaz, H. H., Yazihan, N., Tunca, D., Sevinc, A., Olcayto, E. O., Ozgul, N., & Tuncer, M. (2010). Cancer Trends and Incidence and Mortality Patterns in

Turkey. Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology, 41(1), 10–16. https://doi.org/10.1093/jjco/hyq075

Zheng, H., Shen, M., Zha, Y. L., Li, W., Wei, Y., Blanco, M., Ren, G., Zhou, T., Storz, P., Wang, H. Y., & Kang, Y. (2014). PKD1 Phosphorylation-Dependent Degradation of SNAIL by SCF-FBXO11 Regulates Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition and Metastasis. Cancer Cell, 26(3), 358–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2014.07.022

APPENDICES

A. RNA- Seq Data Table

IOMM DMSO RvsNR			IOMM JQ1 RvsNR		
symbol	log2FoldC	p-value	symbol	log2FoldCl	p-value
CDH1	2.06	0.04	CDH1	2.34	0.04
SNAI2	0.75	7.10E-08	SNAI2	0.59	8.06E-06
ZEB2	-1.28	4.53E-43	ZEB2	-0.83	1.58E-21
FOXM1	-1.65	2.87E-51	FOXM1	-1.7	1.6E-162
SNAI1	0.94	3.40E-153	SNAI1	0.87	1.38E-07
ZEB1	-0.67	4.03E-37	ZEB1	-0.56	2.47E-14
CTNNB1	-0.06	3.02E-08	CTNNB1	-0.15	0
TWIST1	-1.03	1.04E-48	TWIST1	-0.0063	0.97
CDH2	-0.98	5.11E-08	CDH2	-0.9	2.35E-32
VIM	-0.69	9.88E-20	VIM	-0.88	2.29E-77
TGFB1	-1.18	0.17	TGFB1I1	-1.05	6.5E-34

599 DMSO RvsNR			599 JQ1 RvsNR		
symbol	log2FoldC	p-value	symbol	log2FoldC	p-value
CDH1	-2.34	4.24E-13	CDH1	-3.22	3.11E-11
SNAI2	-1.73	9.24E-18	SNAI2	-1.25	3.34E-08
ZEB2	-0.96	4.15E-32	ZEB2	-1.21	9.90E-38
FOXM1	-0.63	1.62E-13	FOXM1	-0.84	9.45E-18
SNAI1	-0.38	0.62	SNAI1	-0.32	0.7
ZEB1 *	0.17	0.07	ZEB1 *	0.21	0.06
CTNNB1	0.19	3.57E-05	CTNNB1	0.19	0
TWIST1	0.75	2.18E-10	TWIST1	0.9	3.25E-11
CDH2	0.64	1.53E-21	CDH2	0.72	2.90E-21
VIM	1.04	5.76E-60	VIM	1.1	1.00E-53
TGFB1	1.53	1.83E-05	TGFB1	1.18	3.48E-12

Figure A.1. Resistant and Non-resistant IOMM Lee and AC599 were treated with DMSO and JQ1.

RNA sequencing data were analyzed for JQ1 Resistant (R) and Non-resistant (NR) cell lines Statistical values of RNA-Seq were shown (B). LogFoldChange for EMT markers' in this comparison is shown. ≤ 0 downregulated; ≥ 0 upregulated. * shows significant p-values.

B. Ingenuity Pathway Analysis



A



Figure A.2. IOMM Lee DMSO R vs NR Canonical EMT pathway, Ingenuity Pathway Analysis. RNA-Seq data were analyzed by Ingenuity and the predictable expression of genes is shown in figure (A). Prediction legend of figure (B).

B



Figure A.3. IOMM Lee JQ1 R vs NR Canonical EMT pathway, Ingenuity Pathway Analysis. RNA-Seq data were analyzed by Ingenuity and the predictable expression of genes is shown in the figure.



Figure A.4. AC599 DMSO R vs NR Canonical EMT pathway, Ingenuity Pathway Analysis. RNA-Seq data were analyzed by Ingenuity and the predictable expression of genes is shown in the figure.



Figure A.5. AC599 JQ1 R vs NR Canonical EMT pathway, Ingenuity Pathway Analysis. RNA-Seq data were analyzed by Ingenuity and the predictable expression of genes is shown in the figure.



Figure A.6. Upon chemoresistance there is a significant *STAT1* downregulation in the AC599 JR cell line compared to the parental AC599 cell line. Ingenuity Pathway Analysis combines our RNA-Seq data with the database to predict the downstream effect where *STAT3* (shown in orange) is predicted to be upregulated.



C. JQ1 IC50 Values of IOMM Lee, CH157 -MN and AC599

Figure A.7. JQ1 was added to cells gradually in 96 well plates. After 72 hours of adding JQ1, Cell Titter Glo Assay was observed. Cell Titter Glo Assay is a viability assay that is used for finding the IC50 value in this experiment.

D. Stattic IC50 Values of Non-Resistant and Resistant IOMM Lee, CH157 -MN and AC599



Figure A.8. Stattic was added to cells gradually in 96 well plates. After 72 hours of adding Stattic, MTT Assay was observed. MTT Assay is a viability assay that is used for finding the IC50 value in this experiment.

E. *STAT1* Log Fold Change in JQ1 Resistant AC599 Cell Line Compared to Parental

Molecule	Experimetal Log Fol Change	Predicted Log Fold Change	Experimental pvalue	Experimetnal padi	Predicted p value
STAT1	-2,06	-4,007	3.37E-44	3.37E-44	4,64E-13
STAT2	-0,804	-2,607	9.93E-21	9.93E-21	0,00000206
STAT4	2,162	-2,303	4.19E-14	4.19E-14	0,0373

Figure A.9. *STAT1* is downregulated in JQ1 resistant AC599 cell line compared to parental.

	Positive Antibody Staining				
	(Intensity Per Area)				
	Stattic Treatment				
	0 Hour 24 Hour Percent Change				
Vimentin (green)	22.1	49.5	62.7		
β-catenin (red)	0.0	0.0	16.2		
E-cadherin (green)	0.0	12.0	10.6		
N-cadherin (red)	35.5	30.6	20.1		
		JQ1 Treatm	ent		
	0 Hour	24 Hour	Percent Change		
Vimentin (green)	22.1	59.5	40.8		
β-catenin (red)	0.0	19.3	5.5		
E-cadherin (green)	0.0	0.0	16.0		
N-cadherin (red)	35.5	35.4	66.2		

F. Immunofloerecense Staining Intensity Comparision

Figure A.10. The IOMM Lee meningioma cell line was stained with Vimentin, β catenin, E-cadherin, and N-cadherin antibodies. The table shows antibody stainings intensity in 24 hours of Stattic and JQ1 treatment. Intensity per area changes in percentage.

	Positive Antibody Staining				
	(Intensity Per Area)				
	Stattic Treatment				
	0 Hour 24 Hour Percent Change				
Vimentin (green)	12.2	63.4	51.2		
β-catenin (red)	26.1	43.4	17.3		
E-cadherin (green)	28.4	15.7	-12.8		
N-cadherin (red)	73.9	26.2	-47.7		
	JQ1 Treatment				
	0 Hour	24 Hour	Percent Change		
Vimentin (green)	12.2	44.1	31.9		
β-catenin (red)	26.1	36.9	10.7		
E-cadherin (green)	28.4	27.3	-1.1		
N-cadherin (red)	73.9	64.3	-9.6		

Figure A.11. The IOMM Lee JR meningioma cell line was stained with Vimentin, β -catenin, E-cadherin, and N-cadherin antibodies. The table shows antibody stainings intensity in 24 hours of Stattic and JQ1 treatment. Intensity per area changes in percentage.

	Positive Antibody Staining				
	(Intensity Per Area)				
	Stattic Treatment				
	0 Hour 24 Hour Percent Change				
Vimentin (green)	22.1	49.5	27.4		
β-catenin (red)	0.0	0.0	0.0		
E-cadherin (green)	0.0	12.0	12.0		
N-cadherin (red)	35.5	30.6	-4.9		
	JQ1 Treatment				
	0 Hour	24 Hour	Percent Change		
Vimentin (green)	22.1	59.5	37.4		
β-catenin (red)	0.0	19.3	19.3		
E-cadherin (green)	0.0	0.0	0.0		
N-cadherin (red)	35.5	35.4	-0.1		

Figure A.12. The AC599 meningioma cell line was stained with Vimentin, β catenin, E-cadherin, and N-cadherin antibodies. The table shows antibody stainings intensity in 24 hours of Stattic and JQ1 treatment. Intensity per area changes in percentage.

	Positive Antibody Staining					
	(Intensity Per Area)					
	Stattic Treatment					
	0 Hour 24 Hour Percent Change					
Vimentin (green)	45.3	34.0	-11.3			
β-catenin (red)	27.3	36.0	8.7			
E-cadherin (green	17.4	9.8	-7.5			
N-cadherin (red)	29.2	19.9	-9.3			
	JQ1 Treatment					
	0 Hour	24 Hour	Percent Change			
Vimentin (green)	45.3	27.9	-17.4			
β-catenin (red)	27.3	32.4	5.1			
E-cadherin (green	17.4	13.3	-4.1			
N-cadherin (red)	29.2	72.6	43.5			

Figure A.13. The AC599 JR meningioma cell line was stained with Vimentin, β catenin, E-cadherin, and N-cadherin antibodies. The table shows antibody stainings intensity in 24 hours of Stattic and JQ1 treatment. Intensity per area changes in percentage.

G. Compositions of the Buffers Used in This Study

Propidium Iodide (PI) Staining

 $50 \ \mu l \ 0.4x \ Triton \ X$

4 µl RNase A (10 mg/ml)

4 µl Propidium Iodide (PI) (1 mg/ml)

142 µl 1x PBS (Cold)

Immunofluorescence TBST

50 ml 1x PBS

50 µl 0.1% Triton X-100

Immunofluorescence Blocking Buffer

50 ml 1x PBS

50 µl 0.1% Triton X-100

0.50 gr BSA

H. EMT Biomarker qPCR Primers

Table A.1 qPCR Primers of EMT TFs

Genes	Primer Sequence	ТМ
ACTIN Forward	5'TTGCCCTGAGGCTCTTTTCCA'3	61.95
ACTIN Reverse	5'GGTCTTTGCGGATGTCCACG'3	61.64
SNAIL Forward	5'AGCCCAGGCAGCTATTTCAG'3	60.11
SNAIL Reverse	5'CTGGGAGACACATCGGTCAG'3	59.83
SLUG Forward	5'CAACGCCTCCAAAAAGCCAA'3	59.90
SLUG Reverse	5'ACTCACTCGCCCCAAAGATG'3	60.04
TWIST Forward	5'CAAAGAAACAGGGCGTGGGGG'3	61.81
TWIST Reverse	5'GCAGAGGTGTGAGGATGGTG'3	60.39
CTNNB1 Forward	5'TCTTACACCCACCATCCCAC'3	58.70
CTNNB1 Reverse	5'GCACGAACAAGCAACTGAAC'3	58.97